

TRENDS OF MALARIA INCIDENCE AND THE EFFECT OF VECTOR CONTROL COVERAGE IN MARULENG MUNICIPALITY FROM 2013 TO 2019

By

Seboke Rebecca Letsoalo

A MINI-DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN THE PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH (MPH) AT THE UNIVERSITY OF VENDA

Main-Supervisor: Prof Tshitangano TG

Co-Supervisor: Dr Netshisaulu KG

November 2021

1



DECLARATION

I, Seboke Rebecca Letsoalo, hereby declare that mini dissertation titled "Trends of Malaria incidence and the effect of vector control coverage in Maruleng Municipality from 2013 to 2019" hereby submitted to the University of Venda, School of Health Sciences, higher degree Committee has not been submitted before for any degree or examination at this or any other University; and that it is my own work in design and execution; and that all material contained herein has been duly acknowledged.

Student Number: 14003884



Acknowledgement

I would like to thank the almighty God; this dissertation would have been impossible without his mercy and grace. I acknowledge my supervisors, Prof. Takalani Tshitangano and Dr Khathutshelo Netshisaulu for their support, guidance, and patience throughout the project.

My sincere appreciation goes to my Happiness and best friend, for moral support and pushing me to go beyond my abilities. To my parents, Mr & Mrs G.E.P, my kids Lesego and Mpho Letsoalo, my whole family, thank you for always being my pillar of strength.

I am also grateful to Mr Tsheko Musolwa for helping significantly with financial resources to enable me to cope with socio-economic conditions and to finish my studies.

I would like to acknowledge my friend Dr Mambanga Patrick and his wife Lisa for assisting during data collection and for their assistance and participation in this study.

Lastly, I would like to extend my special thanks to Limpopo Department of Health: Malaria Institution, Mr Machaba R.N.E, Mr Maleto M.M, Mr Shibiri K.W and Ms Ndala F, for providing me with relevant documents and their consistent support throughout this study.



LIST OF ACRONYMS

- ACT Artemisinin Combination Therapy
- CI Confidence interval CFR Case fatality rate DDT Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane DDD Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane DALYs Disability-adjusted life years DOH Department of Health EDPT Early Case Detection and Prompt Treatment EHPs **Environmental Health Practitioners** IRS Indoor Residual spraying IMIS Integrated malaria information system ITN Insecticide-treated mosquito nets LLINs Long-lasting insecticidal nets NDOH National Department of Health NICD National Institute for Communicable Disease UHDC University Higher Degree Committee WHO World Health Organization





ABSTRACT

Malaria remains a critical global health concern, and South Africa is not an exception. Malaria contributed to human morbidity, mortality, and economic adversity since time immemorial. It exacts an unacceptable toll on the health of people. This study sought to determine the trends of malaria incidence and effects of vector control coverage in Maruleng Municipality. The study adopted a descriptive retrospective quantitative research design using all malaria cases that have occurred and recorded in Maruleng Municipality from 2013 to 2019. Data were analysed using Statistical Package for Social Scientist (SPSS version 24.0) and the findings were present in frequencies, percentages, pie charts, and graphs. Cross-tabulation and chi-square were employed as statistical tests to verify association between variables. A total of 874 malaria cases and 15 deaths were reported within five years. The study established that Maruleng Municipality is an escalating malaria-risk area since2012-17. However, there was a significantly sharp decrease in malaria morbidity and mortality in 2018 compared to the previous years of the study. The decline was credited to indoor residual spraying (IRS). The Chi-squared test was used to calculate differences in incidence rate and CFR between both sexes and age incidence. Therefore, the study established an association between malaria incidences and biographical information. Malaria incidence was high among males than females and between 0-10 and 21-30 years were the most people at risk. The study concluded that the low death rate and varying morbidity might have been caused by different levels of vector control coverage (IRS) and interventions in different localities. The study noted two insecticides used during the IRS and recommend a holistic approach that includes a combination of other control interventions. These results highlight the need to continue with current control strategies such as IRS until interruption in local malaria transmission is completely achieved and alternative control strategies implemented.

Keywords: Incidence, Indoor residual spraying, Malaria, Mortality, Morbidity, Prevalence, Trends, Vector control.

5



Table of Contents

Declaration	2
Acknowledgment Error! Bookr	nark not defined.
List of acronyms	4
Abstract	5
CHAPTER 1	9
INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND TO THE STUDY	9
1.1.Introduction	9
1.2 Background to the study	9
1.3 Problem Statement	
1.4 Rationale of the Study	11
1.5 The main purpose of the study	11
1.6 Objectives of the study	11
1.7 Research questions	11
1.8 Significance of the study	
1.9 Definition of key concepts	
CHAPTER 2	13
LITERATURE REVIEW	14
2.1 Introductions	
2.2 Trends of Malaria incidence	14
2.2.1.Globally	14
2.2.2. Sub-Saharan Africa	15
2.2.3 South Africa	15
2.2.4 Limpopo	16
2.3 Vector control	
2.3.1 Current malaria control strategies	
2.3.2 Available vector control methods and their classification	
2.3.2.1 Methods of reducing human-vector contact	19
2.3.2.2 Methods aimed mainly at reducing vector density	20
2.3.2.3 Methods aimed mainly at increasing adult vector	22
2.3.3. The role of vector control in the strategy of malaria control	23



2.3.5. Indications for vector control242.3.6. Challenges for malaria vector control25CHAPTER 327RESEARCH METHODOLOGY273.1 Introduction273.2 The study design273.3 The study setting283.4 Data quality293.5 Data collection methods293.6 Data analysis293.7 Ethical considerations303.7.1 Ethics303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.8 Dissemination of the Study findings30CHAPTER 431RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION314.1. Introduction314.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
2.3.6. Challenges for malaria vector control25CHAPTER 327RESEARCH METHODOLOGY273.1 Introduction273.2 The study design273.3 The study setting283.4 Data quality293.5 Data collection methods293.6 Data analysis293.7 Ethical considerations303.7.1 Ethics303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.7.1 Ethics303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.7.3 Ethical Clearance303.7.4 Ethical Clearance303.7.5 Ethical Clearance303.7.1 Ethical Clearance303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.7.3 Ethical Clearance303.7.4 Ethical Clearance303.7.5 Ethical Clearance303.7.6 Ethical Clearance303.7.7 Ethical Clearance303.7.8 Ethical Clearance303.7.9 Ethical Clearance303.7.1 Ethics314.1. Introduction314.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
CHAPTER 3
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY273.1 Introduction273.2 The study design273.3 The study setting283.4 Data quality293.5 Data collection methods293.6 Data analysis293.7 Ethical considerations303.7.1 Ethics303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.8 Dissemination of the Study findings30CHAPTER 431RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION314.1 Introduction314.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4.Age and gender-specific malaria mortality344.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
3.1 Introduction273.2 The study design273.3 The study setting283.4 Data quality293.5 Data collection methods293.6 Data analysis293.7 Ethical considerations303.7.1 Ethics303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.8 Dissemination of the Study findings30CHAPTER 431RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION314.1. Introduction314.2. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality344.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
3.2 The study design 27 3.3 The study setting 28 3.4 Data quality 29 3.5 Data collection methods 29 3.6 Data analysis 29 3.7 Ethical considerations 30 3.7.1 Ethics 30 3.7.2 Ethical Clearance 30 3.8 Dissemination of the Study findings 30 CHAPTER 4 31 RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION 31 4.1. Introduction 31 4.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate 32 4.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018 33 4.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation 35 4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection 36 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage 37 4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13 38
3.3 The study setting.283.4 Data quality293.5 Data collection methods293.6 Data analysis293.7 Ethical considerations303.7.1 Ethics303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.8 Dissemination of the Study findings30CHAPTER 4.31RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION.314.1. Introduction314.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality344.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
3.4 Data quality293.5 Data collection methods293.6 Data analysis293.7 Ethical considerations303.7.1 Ethics303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.8 Dissemination of the Study findings30CHAPTER 431 RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION 314.1. Introduction314.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality344.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
3.5 Data collection methods 29 3.6 Data analysis 29 3.7 Ethical considerations 30 3.7.1 Ethics 30 3.7.2 Ethical Clearance 30 3.8 Dissemination of the Study findings 30 CHAPTER 4. 31 RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION 31 4.1. Introduction 31 4.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate 32 4.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018 33 4.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation 35 4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection 36 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage 37 4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13 38
3.6 Data analysis 29 3.7 Ethical considerations 30 3.7.1 Ethics 30 3.7.2 Ethical Clearance 30 3.8 Dissemination of the Study findings 30 CHAPTER 4 31 RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION 31 4.1. Introduction 31 4.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate 32 4.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018 33 4.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation 35 4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection 36 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage 37 4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13 38
3.7 Ethical considerations 30 3.7.1 Ethics 30 3.7.2 Ethical Clearance 30 3.8 Dissemination of the Study findings 30 CHAPTER 4 31 RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION 31 4.1. Introduction 31 4.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate 32 4.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018 33 4.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality 34 4.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation 35 4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection 36 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage 37 4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13 38
3.7.1 Ethics303.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.8 Dissemination of the Study findings30CHAPTER 431RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION314.1. Introduction314.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4.Age and gender-specific malaria mortality344.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
3.7.2 Ethical Clearance303.8 Dissemination of the Study findings30CHAPTER 431RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION314.1. Introduction314.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality344.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
3.8 Dissemination of the Study findings 30 CHAPTER 4 31 RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION 31 4.1. Introduction 31 4.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate 32 4.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018 33 4.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality 34 4.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation 35 4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection 36 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage 37 4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13 38
CHAPTER 4
RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION.314.1. Introduction314.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018.334.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality344.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
4.1. Introduction314.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality344.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
4.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate324.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018334.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality344.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation354.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection364.6. Effects of vector control coverage374.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/1338
4.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2018. 33 4.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality 34 4.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation 35 4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection 36 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage 37 4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13 38
4.4.Age and gender-specific malaria mortality 34 4.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation 35 4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection 36 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage 37 4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13 38
4.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation 35 4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection 36 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage 37 4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13 38
4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection 36 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage 37 4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13 38
 4.6. Effects of vector control coverage
4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13
4.6b. Malaria season 2013-2014
4.7.Vector control according to Malaria seasons 2013/2019
4.8 Summary of insecticides and structures covered during vector control (2013-
2010)
Discussion
Chanter 6 47



Conclusions and Recommendations	
6.1 Introduction	
6.2: Conclusions	
6.3. Recommendations	
Reference	
Appendix 1: Data collecting tool	72



CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND TO THE STUDY

1.1. Introduction

Malaria is one of the epidemics that the United Nations (UN) aims to end by 2030(UN, 2021). It is a disease caused by a plasmodium parasite, transmitted by infected mosquito bites. The severity of malaria varies and are determined by the species of plasmodium. Symptoms include chills, fever, and sweating, usually occurring a few weeks after the mosquito bite. In South Africa, malaria is mainly transmitted along the border areas of Limpopo, Mpumalanga and KwaZulu Natal putting at least 10% of the population (approximately 4.9 million persons) at risk of contracting the disease. However, malaria transmission is seasonal in South Africa, malaria cases rising in October, peak in January and February, and wan towards May (DOH, 2018). People travelling malaria prevalent areas typically take preventative drugs before, during and after their trip. Treatment includes antimalarial drugs. This section presents the background, the problem statement, the rationale, purpose and objectives, research questions, significance, and definitions of key concepts of the study.

1.2 Background to the study

Malaria remains the current critical global health challenge and South Africa is not exempted. The impact of seasonal and unsafe malaria transmission is seen particularly in the northern part of the country where Limpopo is situated. More than 80% of these cases are projected to occur in sub-Saharan Africa, particularly in remote rural areas with poor access to health services (WHO, 2010). In 2013 there were 198 million cases and 584 000 deaths from Malaria (WHO, 2014).

The World Malaria Report 2010 noted that malaria global prevalence was estimated at 225 million cases and 781 000 deaths (WHO 2010). More than a third (36%) of the world's population live in malaria-endemic areas and one billion people are estimated to carry parasites at any one time, while some three billion are estimated to live in areas at risk of malaria transmission in 109 countries (WHO 2010). In 2000, by estimation malaria contributed to the loss of nearly 45 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs), representing about 13% of all infectious diseases (WHO 2010). However, accurately assessing the burden of malaria is a challenge in sub-Saharan Africa because most deaths occur at home. The clinical features of malaria are very like other infectious diseases and the lack of facilities for accurate diagnosis (WHO 2008). Despite these limitations, sub-Saharan Africa bears the brunt of the disease, with at least one million malaria deaths each year (90% of all cases), mainly from *P. falciparum* (WHO 2008).



Per the National Department of Health malaria policy of 2006, South Africa is not excluded from the danger of seasonal and unbalanced malaria, affecting 10% of the population living in malariaendemic areas [NDoH, 2006]. In South Africa, malaria was limited to the north-eastern border areas, which include Mpumalanga, Limpopo, and KwaZulu-Natal provinces, with over 90% of *P. falciparum*, mainly transmitted by *Anarabiensis* [NDoH 2006]. Recently Waterberg reported malaria outbreaks in the past year.

March 2016 Limpopo Department of Health monthly report highlighted a malaria incidence increase; Mopani district was severely affected with 253 cases, while 101 of cases were reported in Ba-Phalaborwa and 232 were reported in the Greater Giyani. Maruleng Municipality is one of the sub-districts of the Mopani district Municipality, reported a malaria outbreak that in January 2016 where 2 people died (DoH, 2016).

The entire Province of Limpopo was at risk of malaria infections over a period of 65 years. The department of health successfully dealt with malaria in the eastern and northern areas of Mopani district which include Maruleng Municipality. Sustainable Malaria Control interventions per the Global Malaria control strategy (DoH, 2010). Maruleng Municipality has an outbreak response team based at Sekororo District Hospital. Due to limited financial support, the government only use the indoor residual spraying vector as a control method. Maruleng Municipality outbreak response team organise malaria awareness campaigns quarterly and whenever an outbreak occurs, which include Environmental Health Practitioners to educate the community about malaria.

The Limpopo Province department of health has malaria control programmes, to achieve a considerable decrease in Malaria incidence. The program includes:

- Early Case Detection and Prompt Treatment (EDPT)
- Vector control
- Biological control
- Personal Prophylactic Measures

1.3 Problem Statement

Despite the development and implementation of malaria control programmes, malaria remains a public health concern in South Africa. During 2014/2015, 991 malaria cases were reported at various Health Centres around Maruleng, among which 64 deaths occurred. This shows a significant increase in malaria incidence compared to 529 cases reported during 2012/2013 (DoH,



2014). The researcher noted that village community members are reluctant to use the indoor residual spraying chemicals provided by the Department of Health seasonally, because they opt for traditional methods. From the researcher's observation, Environmental Health Practitioners are denied access to most privately-owned properties like farms and lodges around Maruleng Municipality during malaria awareness campaigns. Thus, most farm communities do not receive any malaria-related health education.

Sekororo Hospital Malaria investigation task team reported of that in some cases, community members report to the Health Care Centres at a very critical stage, and some die upon arrival, where medical examinations confirm Malaria incidents. Therefore, the researcher assumed that Maruleng communities might not be fully aware of the significance of malaria control interventions due to the prevalence of late hospital visits/consultations among malaria patients. It is in this light that the researcher sought to investigate trends of malaria incidences in Maruleng.

1.4 Rationale of the Study

The scarcity and/or lack of information and studies investigating malaria-related incidence trends in Maruleng; the increasing malaria prevalence in Maruleng Municipality motivated the researcher to conduct this study.

1.5 The main purpose of the study

The sought to determine the trends of Malaria incidence and effects of vector control coverage in Maruleng Municipality.

1.6 Objectives of the study

This study had two objectives

- To assess the trends of malaria incidence in Maruleng Municipality
- To describe the effects of vector control in Maruleng Municipality

1.7 Research questions

This study attempted to answer the following questions:

- What are the trends of malaria incidence in Maruleng Municipality?
- What is the effect of vector control coverage in Maruleng Municipality?



1.8 Significance of the study

Maruleng municipality committed to reviving malaria control and move toward elimination. Therefore, this study might equip the Maruleng Municipality with relevant information to achieve its commitment. The findings might assist Maruleng Municipality and Limpopo province Department of Health to develop new malaria control policies, review existing strategies and programs to improve the management of malaria within the region. This will benefit Maruleng Municipal community and farm dwellers. It will also contribute to the body of knowledge on the burden of Malaria and contributing factors towards malaria prevalence. This information will help alleviate Malaria-related burden on the Municipality because it is mandated to provide the basis for the necessary interventions. These findings will also help Maruleng Environmental Health Practitioners to demonstrate and prove the importance of malaria vector control to the community.

1.9 Definition of key concepts

- Malaria vector control: is any method to limit or eradicate the mosquito which transmits disease pathogens and cause malaria, it focuses on preventative methods to control or eliminate the vector population (Webber, 1996). In this study, malaria vector control involves provision of insecticide-treated nets and indoor residual spraying and its essence as it targets mosquitoes capable of transmitting malaria.
- Effect: is any deviation in the normal function due to external agents or stimuli (www.buisnessdictionary.com). According to this study, effect is the power of indoor residual spraying to produce an outcome or achieve results or even the combined effect produced by the action of preventative measures placed in a place.
- Trends: is a general direction of change or a way of behaving, preceding that is developing and becoming more common around the same area or location or population and a pattern of gradual change in a condition, output, or process. (<u>www.buisnessdictionary.com</u>). In this study, trends are patterns in which cases occur overtime in the Maruleng
- Trends of malaria incidence: is the general direction of the way of behaving, preceding that is developing and becoming more common around the same area or population of life-threatening mosquito-borne infectious disease which is annually diagnosis rates of new cases. (Webber 1996). In this study, trends of malaria incidence are the direction or



the way the incidence constantly becomes common around the area and are reported and confirmed after tests

Effect of vector control coverage: is the ability of vector control coverage to influence Malaria incidence by producing results desired by control measures which are the reduction of incidence. (Webber 1996). In this study, effect of vector control coverage is the ability of indoor residual spraying and insecticides treated nets to be significant and term to reduce the number of cases desired by preventative measures.

•



CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introductions

A literature review discusses published information in a subject area and sometimes information in a subject area within a certain time. Literature review can be just a simple summary of sources. A literature review is an evaluative report of studies found in the literature related to the selected area one wishes to pursue. The review should describe, summarise, evaluate, and clarify this literature. It should give a theoretical basis for the research and help one determine the nature of own research. The literature review goes beyond the search for information and includes the identification and articulation of relationships between the literature and the field of research (Jesson, Matheson &Lacey 2011).

This study consists of database literature review and its purpose is to cover a wide range of issues about trends of malaria incidence and vector control. This section also highlights the global, continental, national, provincial approaches to trends of malaria incidence and vector control. This section provides a discussion on existing studies related to trends of malaria and vector control as a phenomenon. The history of malaria is also included (Jesson, Matheson &Lacey 2011).

2.2 Trends of Malaria incidence

2.2.1. Globally

Malaria globally has plagued humanity throughout history and remains one of the major challenges to global health in terms of morbidity and mortality. According to the latest estimation from WHO (2015), there were 214 million new malaria cases worldwide. The African region accounted for most global cases (88%) followed by the South-East Asia region with 10% and the Eastern Mediterranean region with 2%. In 2015 there were 438 000 malaria deaths worldwide and most of these deaths occurred in the African region with 90%, followed by the South-East Asia region with 7% and the Eastern Mediterranean region with 3% (WHO, 2015). However, between 2000 and 2015, malaria incidence rates (new cases) fell by 37% globally, and by 42% in Africa. During the same period, malaria mortality rates fell by 60% globally and 66% in Africa. Children under five are particularly susceptible to malaria infection and death. In 2015, malaria killed an estimated 306000 under-fives globally; these include 292 000 children in the African region.



During the same period, however, the mortality rate amongst children under five fell by 65% worldwide and by 71% in Africa (WHO, 2015)

2.2.2 Sub-Saharan Africa

Sub-Saharan Africa is a major site of malaria transmission due to its geographical location in the tropic zone (WHO, 2015). The tropical areas have large amounts of rainfall, creating vast breeding grounds to allow the development of egg to larvae to pupae to adult. The warm climate of sub-Saharan Africa allows the rapid development of the parasitic growth cycle. The warm temperature condenses the length of parasite development, permitting rapid transmission. Additionally, due to the warm climate, many sub-Saharans sleep outside during good weather more often, allowing the potential to be bitten to increase substantially. This is especially the case among agricultural workers who often sleep near fields during the harvest without protecting insecticide bed nets (WHO, 2015). The World Health Organisation annual report of 2015 that Malaria in Sub-Saharan Africa has affected the lives of almost all people living in Africa, defined by the southern fringes of the Sahara Desert in the north and latitude of about 28° in the south. Most people at risk of the disease live in areas of relatively stable malaria transmission – infection is common and occurs with enough frequency that some level of immunity develop (WHO 2015). Despite major progress in the fight against malaria, the mosquito-borne disease remains an acute public health problem in Sub-Saharan Africa, home to 90% of the world's malaria cases(WHO2015).

2.2.3 South Africa

Approximately 4.9 million (10%) of South Africa's total population are contracting malaria. Limpopo, Kwa-Zulu Natal and Mpumalanga account for more cases; however, recently, it was reported that Waterberg District registered 54 cases of malaria, and after investigations, it was established that those cases were not inherited but originated from that district. (NDoH, 2016). Malaria is a notifiable disease in South Africa, and *Plasmodium falciparum* accounts for most malaria cases in southern Africa and is the predominant species associated with a severe and fatal disease. Almost all South Africans lack acquired immunity, including residents of seasonal malaria transmission areas, and are, therefore, at risk for developing severe malaria.

Malaria occurs in limited areas in South Africa, mainly in the low altitude (below 1000m) areas of Limpopo, Mpumalanga and North-Eastern KwaZulu-Natal. Limited focal transmission may occasionally occur in the North-West and Northern Cape provinces along the Orange River. South



Africa is not exempt from seasonal and unstable malaria transmission, particularly in the northern and eastern parts of the country (WHO, 2010).

with Large-scale malaria control operations based on house-spraying DDT (dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane) were initiated in South Africa during the 1940s leading to a decline in malaria transmission in large parts of the country and elimination of the major malaria vectors Anopheles funestus and Anopheles gambiae. (WHO, 2010). In South Africa, malaria transmission is seasonal and restricted to the north-eastern border areas with Mozambique, Swaziland and Zimbabwe. Malaria is endemic in the Lowveld of Mpumalanga and in Limpopo (including the Kruger Park and private game reserves, which make these provinces so popular with favourable climate). In Kwa-Zulu Natal, malaria is endemic on the coast. So, if you are travelling to the far north of South Africa, please consult a healthcare professional for the latest advice on malaria prophylaxis as it changes regularly.

2.2.4 Limpopo

Historically, the entire Limpopo Province was at risk of Malaria. Through targeted and sustainable Malaria Control interventions over 65 years, malaria is now restricted to the eastern & northern low-lying areas of the Mopani & Vhembe districts. These areas are prone to frequent explosive epidemics during the summer rainy season. Southern Sekhukhune and western Waterberg areas are also prone to low-intensity focal outbreaks during the summer rainy season (NDOH 2013). Malaria is viewed as a priority disease in Limpopo due to its potential to cause outbreaks with high morbidity and mortality. Malaria is endemic in the low-altitude areas of the northern and eastern parts of Limpopo along the border with Mozambique and Zimbabwe. Malaria transmission is distinctly seasonal, with transmission limited to the warm and rainy summer months (September to May); hence malaria is unstable and epidemic-prone. These seasonal epidemics are mostly because of favourable climatic conditions, including floods and droughts, which are conducive to mosquito breeding and parasite development Increase in malaria drug resistance and movement of people between risk areas and control areas are also major contributing factors to increased malaria transmission (WHO, 2010)

A major threat to the success of the Limpopo malaria control programmes is the lack of control activities across country borders of Zimbabwe and Mozambique. The main Malaria Control Intervention is the indoor residual spraying programmes. This activity is carried out by malaria spray teams, divided into geographical areas called sectors. The malaria control programmes have 42 malaria teams that are responsible for spraying more than 955,000 structures each year.



The spraying of houses with residual insecticides has successfully reduced the prevalence of malaria vector mosquitoes (SAIMR, 2010).

Risk areas to be included for indoor residual spraying are determined through entomological and epidemiological data. The indoor residual spraying programmes in Limpopo are one of the most successful disease prevention programmes operational at the community level. As all community members are at equal risk of contracting malaria, this intervention provides appropriate protection at this level. The Malaria control is managed by the Provincial Malaria Control unit, based in Tzaneen (DoH, 2015).

It was reported in times live March 2017 that the National Institute for Communicable Disease (NICD) posted an alert to areas which include Vhembe and Mopani districts in Limpopo in addition to farms along the Lephalale River in Waterberg and Bushbuckridge in Mpumalanga, it was also reported that it has been busy 2017 malaria season in the Southern region which peaked in April and May and extended into June. High rainfall, humidity and the ambient temperature had provided ideal conditions for malaria mosquito breeding. (<u>https://www.timeslive.co.za</u>). Risk area around South Africa and other neighbouring countries: Refer to the map below.



Figure 1: Malaria risk map for South Africa (MRC 2014)



2.3 Vector control

Vector control is the main way to reduce malaria transmission at the community level. It is the only intervention that can reduce malaria transmission from very high levels to zero. For individuals, personal protection against mosquito bites represents the first line of defence for malaria prevention. Antimalarial medicines can also be used to prevent malaria. Maniefisch (2015) reported that for travellers, malaria could be prevented through chemoprophylaxis, which suppresses the blood stage of malaria infections, thereby preventing malaria disease.

In addition, WHO (2014) recommends intermittent preventive treatment with sulfadoxinepyrimethamine for pregnant women living in high transmission areas at each scheduled antenatal visit after the first trimester. Similarly, for infants living in high-transmission areas of Africa, 3 doses of intermittent preventive treatment with sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine are recommended delivered alongside routine vaccinations.

Fuckig and Ludwig (2017) attested that in 2012, WHO recommended Seasonal Malaria Chemoprevention as an additional malaria prevention strategy for areas of the Sahel sub-Region of Africa. The strategy involves the administration of monthly courses of amodiaquine plus sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine to all children less than 5 years of age during the high transmission season. The selection of the actual interventions to be made in any area should be based on its ecological and epidemiological characteristics, which may determine the effectiveness of potential interventions, and secondly on the socio-political and economic situation, which may determine whether they can be applied correctly and whether the results achieved can be maintained.

2.3.1 Current malaria control strategies

The Global Malaria Control Strategy, as adopted by the Ministerial Conference in 2013, consists of the following four basic technical elements (WHO, 2013):

- Early diagnosis and prompt treatment
- Planning and implementing selective and sustainable preventive measures including vector control
- Detecting epidemics at an early stage and containing or preventing them
- Regular assessment of a country's malaria situation, and, the ecological, social and economic determinants of the disease



Chaccour and Killeen (2016) established that making "disease diagnosis and treatment" the first general priority is based primarily on the fundamental obligation of health services to provide care for the sick. Thus, based on the extension of health services to the periphery to provide the required infrastructure for channelling the health information and education needed to improve the use of personal protection measures and eventually to deploy any new technology which may be suitable for general application, whether a vaccine or a sustainable method of vector control's preventing mortality and reducing incapacity when it is clear that eradication is not feasible in the short term. Coulibaly (2014) established that it is also based on the extension of health information and education needed to improve the use of personal protection measures and protection measures and eventually to deploy any new technology which may be suitable for general application, whether a vaccine or a sustainable method of vector control application is not feasible in the short term. Coulibaly (2014) established that it is also based on the extension of health information and education needed to improve the use of personal protection measures and eventually to deploy any new technology which may be suitable for general application, whether a vaccine or a sustainable method of vector control.

2.3.2 Available vector control methods and their classification

Maniefisch (2015) revealed that vector control methods could be classified differently for different purposes. From an epidemiological point of view, it may be advisable to classify vector control methods according to the principal effect obtained and, therefore, the link in the chain of transmission most directly affected by their application. Such a classification may be useful in the selection of a control method:

2.3.2.1 Methods of reducing human-vector contact

This category covers all methods in which a barrier is established between vectors and humans and includes the following:

• Mosquito nets and insecticide-treated mosquito nets.

Although untreated mosquito nets have a long history of use in controlling malaria transmission, the introduction of net treatment with pyrethroid insecticides of residual action has considerably increased their effectiveness by adding to the barrier effect of the net the repellent and killing action of the insecticide.

• House protection with a screening of windows, eaves and doors.

This is an effective method if properly implemented and maintained. It remains almost exclusively a method of individual and family protection since it requires a high investment and has high care and maintenance costs.



• Use of repellents.

These may be applied directly on the skin (as a cream, lotion or aerosol) or clothes. The use of repellents is also only a measure of individual protection that can be recommended as a complement to the use of bed nets and house protection methods, to be used after dark before retiring under the mosquito net or by people who should stay outdoors during some part of the night.

• Fumigant insecticide dispensers.

These are widely used throughout the tropics for individual protection, particularly in the form of mosquito coils and, in urban areas, electrically heated dispense

2.3.2.2 Methods aimed mainly at reducing vector density

Oxborough (2015) found that it is well recognised that the impact of vector control on the transmission potential (reproduction rate, vectorially capacity) is directly proportional to the reduction of the vector density. Nevertheless, in most endemic areas, reproduction rates are greatly more than those required to maintain transmission; huge reductions in density may be required to achieve effective control. These methods include all forms of larval control, as described below:

• Source reduction by environmental management.

This includes drainage, flushing, filling, and rendering river and lake margins unsuitable for *anopheline* breeding. These are the classical methods of malaria sanitation, which may be used for all mosquito breeding in general or targeted to the specific breeding places of malaria vectors of local importance (the so-called species sanitation), which requires, as previously mentioned, a thorough knowledge of the bionomics of the local vectors (Ranson &Lissenden, 2016). In general, these methods have relatively high investment costs and maybe cost-effective only in urban areas or some types of development projects. They are suitable for eliminating permanent breeding places, the importance of which should be assessed before embarking on the expensive process of eliminating them. Nevertheless, when properly executed and maintained, their sustainability is relatively easy.

Environmental management methods should be seriously considered in agricultural production systems and urban settings in certain areas. Moreover, in a fully artificial environment, environmental management should be the first line of defence in reducing malaria transmission risks. There is a clear link between the environmental conditions created by certain agricultural practices and the risks of vector-borne disease transmission. Irrigation in its different forms, crop



selection and possibly crop rotation, together with chemical inputs into the agricultural production process, can all have an impact on these risks(Kone, 2015)

By the nature of their work, farmers are involved in environmental management on a daily basis daily and can play a crucial role in reducing them. A clear understanding of agricultural production systems where malaria transmission takes place is therefore essential in considering possible changes in such systems and in selecting right personnel (often agricultural extension workers) to ensure that farming communities take the necessary health-oriented environmental management measures.

• Larviciding.

This includes the use both of chemical insecticides and those of biological origin, such as the toxin of *Bacilusthuringiensisisraelensis* and insect growth regulators. It requires the treatment of all breeding places and may present the same problems as source reduction when temporary breeding places are of great epidemiological importance. In contrast to sanitation methods, larvicides normally have a little residual effect and require regular and frequent applications.

• Biological control.

For *anophelines*, this is practically limited to predators (mainly larvivorous fish), which are most effective in artificial breeding sites (ponds, cisterns or irrigation systems). Although such predators suffer from the same problems of coverage as all the other anti-larval measures, they may become established in a more permanent form. However, as with most natural interacting populations, they will tend to establish an equilibrium with their prey, which will have to be disturbed by frequent seeding of the predator or pathogen concerned.

• Space spraying of insecticides.

Although itsmain effect is a rapid reduction of vector density, when applied at relatively short intervals (less than the duration of the sporogonic cycle), the resulting increase in adult mosquito mortality will, if the required coverage can be achieved, rapidly reduce transmission. Space spraying has been extensively used for controlling epidemics of mosquito-borne diseases such as dengue and some types of encephalitis.

It has occasionally been used in malaria epidemic control and as a complementary measure against exophilic vectors. Its main limitation is the difficulty of applying them at night when vectors



are flying, and the poor penetration of insecticide fogs into the daytime resting places of the vectors. In addition, it may be difficult to mobiliseall the necessary resources for space spraying before the epidemic declines naturally.

2.3.2.3 Methods aimed mainly at increasing adult vector.

Mortality increasing adult vector mortality reduces their expectation of life and, therefore, the probability that the parasite will complete its development. Although density will usually also be reduced, the reduction in the daily survival of the vector has a disproportionately greater impact on transmission. The two methods available for increasing adult vector mortality are described below.

• Indoor residual spraying.

Indoor residual spraying (IRS) with insecticides is a powerful way to reduce malaria transmission rapidly. Its full potential is realised when at least 80% of houses in targeted areas are sprayed. Indoor spraying is effective for 3–6 months, depending on the insecticide used and the type of surface on which it is sprayed. DDT can be effective for 9–12 months in some cases. Longer-lasting forms of existing IRS insecticides and new classes of insecticides for use in IRS programmes are under development.

This includes all methods of indoor spraying with residual insecticides, thus targeting the killing effect to house resting vectors and constituting a most efficient way of using the insecticide to kill vectors likely to transmit malaria. Although pyrethrum was the insecticide first used, indoor spraying of insecticides became the most popular method of malaria vector control with the introduction of DDT and other residual insecticides. Its main limitation is that exophilic vectors may exist and may not come into contact with sprayed surfaces. In addition, this behavioural trait may be selected due to the insecticide treatment.

Community-wide use of Insecticide-treated mosquito nets (ITNs)

Long-lasting insecticidal nets (LLINs) are the preferred form of ITNs for public health distribution programmes. WHO recommends coverage for all at-risk persons; and in most settings. The most cost-effective way to achieve this is through the provision of free LLINs so that everyone sleeps under an LLIN every night. When insecticide-treated nets protect a large proportion of the population in a community, there may be a significant reduction of vector survival, density and sporozoite rate ("mass impact") and hence of malaria transmission and a corresponding increase in community protection.



2.3.3. The role of vector control in the strategy of malaria control

As the second basic element of the Global Malaria Control Strategy, selective application of transmission control measures must be considered wherever malaria is endemic. Since no method of active immunisation is available and mass chemotherapy has very limited application, the only way of controlling transmission is usually that provided by the various vector control methods.

The WHO Study Group on Vector Control for Malaria and other Mosquito-borne Diseases (WHO, 1995) defined selective vector control as the application of targeted, site-specific control activities that are cost-effective. The principal objective of vector control is the reduction of malaria morbidity and mortality by reducing the levels of transmission.

The Study Group further defined selective vector control as the selective use of one or more of the available control methods, the decision-makers have considered:

- The disease status and risks to decide on the needs and priorities of vector control
- The vector, human behaviour, and the environment to determine which vector control methods are suitable and where they are needed
- The resources available to implement action

Vector control methods vary considerably in their applicability and cost and the sustainability of their results. While the control of transmission will be of some benefit whatever the situation, the choice of vector control will depend on the magnitude of the malaria burden, the feasibility of timely and correct application of the required interventions and, most important of all, the possibility of sustaining the resulting modified epidemiological situation.

Vector control is undoubtedly necessary to prevent an epidemic when the conditions leading to a sudden increase in transmission or human exposure have been detected in an epidemic-prone area. Nevertheless, in an attempt to reduce the vectorial capacity in an endemic area, it is necessary to consider the sustainability of the resulting change in endemicity. Most vector control operations will have a significant and obvious impact on the malaria burden of the population concerned.

However, suppose the unfavourable ecological or social conditions persist. In that case, unfavourable the discontinuation of vector control may, because of the decreased immunity of the population, result in an epidemic return of transmission, and the longer the controlled situation has been artificially maintained, the more severe will the impact be.



2.3.4. The role of the entomologist in malaria vector control

Entomological surveillance is a fundamentally important activity in a malaria vector control programme. Without skilled entomological support, analysis and decision making for IRS, particularly in terms of IRM, is impossible. Therefore, there is a need for the national and provincial malaria control programs to develop capacity within this field.

Malaria entomologists provide guidance and support to malaria vector control programmes. They should participate in the planning, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of the programme.

The skills required for adequate entomological surveillance include mosquito sampling in the field, species identification using morphological and molecular methods, vector incrimination using immunological methods, and insecticide susceptibility testing using standard biological (bioassay) techniques. Follow-up operational research activities and specialized diagnostics involve more techniques that a specialist laboratory usually understand (WHO 2012.).

2.3.5. Indications for vector control

• Prevention and control of malaria epidemics

If they can be carried out before the expected peak of transmission, residual spraying or the treatment of mosquito nets if nets are widely used in the affected area.

• Elimination of new foci of infection in malaria-free areas

Depending on the extension and number of such foci, space spraying or indoor residual spraying should be considered emergency measures.

• Prevention of seasonal peaks of malaria transmission

These may sometimes have the characteristics of seasonal epidemics. It may then be possible to institute routine seasonal application of indoor residual spraying and treatment of mosquito nets. It may also be worth considering environmental management methods, source reduction or larviciding in areas of high population density, such as urban areas or in development projects, to reduce the risk of transmission in the future.

• Control of transmission in high-risk situations

Such situations exist in labour or refugee camps, where no immunes and infected people may come together in conditions of high transmission potential.

• Reduction of transmission in areas of high drug resistance



Drug resistance may be particularly high in areas subjected to high selection pressure following the massive use of antimalaria interventions where vector control was considered difficult to organise. Perhaps the most suitable method in these situations will be insecticide-treated materials, although this may pose serious logistic problems in some areas.

• Control of endemic malaria

The method most likely to produce sustainable control is insecticide-treated materials, although indoor spraying has been and still is the most widely used.

2.3.6. Challenges for malaria vector control

Increasing spread of resistance

This is an increasing problem in all African malaria countries. Today there are very few localities on the continent where populations of vector mosquitoes are still susceptible to the approved classes of insecticides.

Pyrethroid resistance has exploded in concert with the scale-up of pyrethroid-treated bed nets, causing concern for those countries that depend on nets for vector control. In SA, pyrethroid resistance in the Mozambican population of *An. Funestus* remains a threat, particularly in the face of changes in housing construction in rural areas are leading to less traditional-style housing. Therefore, there are fewer structures sprayed with DDT, opening the way for *An. funestus* toto return to SA once again.

• Lack of new chemicals

While this is being addressed by initiatives such as the Innovative Vector Control Consortium, the process is slow and expensive. It is likely that no new chemicals will be available for at least 5 years. WHO coordinated multi-country evaluations and further elaborated on Implications of insecticide resistance for malaria vector control November2016 that " Major gains have been made against malaria in recent years, largely through the substantial scale-up of insecticidal interventions targeting Anopheles mosquitoes. These include long-lasting insecticidal nets (LLINs) and, to a lesser extent, indoor residual spraying (IRS). However, their effectiveness is threatened by widespread mosquito resistance to insecticides. Resistance to the insecticides used in LLINs (pyrethroids) is now ubiquitous in major malaria vectors; it is difficult to find areas without resistance, and there are increasing reports of its intensification in some areas (WHO, 2015).



Resistance to the three other insecticide classes commonly used for IRS (carbamates, organophosphates and organochlorines) also increases in areas with malaria transmission (WHO, 2015). Efforts to avert this threat in line with the WHO Global plan for insecticide resistance management in malaria vectors (GPIRM) have been restricted by the lack of new vector control tools and deficiencies in financial, human, and infrastructural resources particularly at the national level. The dearth of evidence linking resistance and vector control effectiveness due to weak national surveillance systems in many endemic settings and potential confounding by other variables, such as treatment regimens or climatic factors.

However, entomological outcomes from laboratory and semi-field studies, and epidemiological outcomes from a recent field evaluation in Malawi, indicate that LLINs provide some personal protection despite pyrethroid resistance. For IRS, reports of resistance impacting effectiveness and therefore malaria transmission has not been definitive (WHO, 2015).

The absence of evidence was addressed by a multi-country evaluation undertaken in Benin, Cameroon, India, Kenya and Sudan, coordinated by WHO with primary funding from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. This represents the first initiative to assemble a large data set from different settings that connect entomological and epidemiological observations to provide quantitative insights on the implications of insecticide resistance on malaria vector control (WHO, 2015).

It was stated in the Impact of Malaria Vector Control Interventions at the Beginning of a Malaria Elimination Stage in a Dominant Area of Anopheles anthropophagus, Hubei Province,

Chinaby Li KJ, Cai SX, Lin W, Xia J, Pi Q, Hu LQ, Huang GQ, Pei SJ, Zhang HX. Three towns with similar socio-ecological characteristics, malaria morbidities, and populations were selected for this study to explore economic and effective malaria control measures. The sources of infection were controlled in each town. Impregnated mosquito nets with 2.5% deltamethrin (15 mg/m(2)) combined with residual spraying of 5% cypermethrin (25 mg/m(2)) were implemented in cattle and pig pens, as well as in crowded sites in Chenji, whereas the mosquito nets were treated with 2.5% deltamethrin only in Guanqiao Town.

All the control measures implemented in Fengling (control town) were the same as those implemented in the towns of Chenji and Guanqiao, except for mosquito elimination control. Results were evaluated and compared based on pathogens and entomology. The densities of Anopheles anthropophagus mosquitoes in houses, outside houses (man bait), as well as in cattle



pens and pig pens were reduced by 100%, 71.96%, 94.01%, and 67.42%, respectively at all 4 sites in ChenjiTown. In contrast, the density increased at 1 site (the outside house [man bait]) by 12.38%, while the densities at the other 3 sites (in houses, cattle pens and pig pens) were reduced by 99.63%, 18.71% and 69.44% respectively in Guanqiao Town. The biting rates of an anthropophagus in the 3 towns were 0.11, 0.22, and 1.1 respectively in Chenji, Guanqiao, and Fengling.

The incidence of malaria in the 3 towns decreased by 73.12%, 57.71%, and 65.71% in terms of the annual average. Both impregnated mosquito nets combined with residual spraying and impregnated mosquito nets only reduced An's density. Anthropophagus in houses in the 2 towns, but the reduction was more rapid in Chenji Town.

CHAPTER 3

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction.

According to Kothari (2015), research methods describe the steps and procedures that a researcher has followed during collecting and systematically analysing data. It is also a way of systematically solving the research problem. It may be understood as a science of studying how research is done scientifically, studying the various steps that a researcher generally adopts in studying his/her research problem along with the logic behind them.

3.2 The study design

According to Creswell (2014), research designs are types of inquiry within qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods that provide specific direction for study procedures. It's the master plan that explains the proposed research methods in terms of data collection, enhancement of data quality and data analysis. It is also a set of methods and procedures used to collect and analyse measures of variables specified in the research problem. It also defines the study type and, data collection methods and statistical analysis plan (Creswell, 2014).

For this study, a quantitative research design that is retrospective and descriptive was adopted, and data will be collected using secondary data using an audit tool. This design was found to be



appropriate because of the aim of the study and the time frame considered. This is a descriptive retrospective study based on the analysis of secondary malaria surveillance data (cases and deaths) and sprays data.

3.3 The study setting

The study was conducted at Maruleng Municipality, situated in the south-eastern quadrant of the Limpopo Province within the Mopani District Municipality. The Municipal area extends over 324699ha. The Kruger National Park borders it to the east, the Ba-Phalaborwa and Tzaneen Municipalities to the north, Lepelle-Nkumpi Municipality to the west and the Tubatse and Bushbuckridge to the south. (www.maruleng.gov.za). Maruleng Municipality is demarcated into 12 wards comprising 23 villages with more than 24589 households and its surrounded but over 120 private farms. All villages still depend completely on government for malaria control intervention. Current vector control interventions in the municipality include IRS and larvicide. Regular spraying of interior walls of houses is carried out in the high-risk malaria areas, a seasonal round from August to February each year. The residual insecticides of choice for indoor application are DDT for traditional structures and, carbamates and synthetic pyrethroids for western type structures. To control mosquito larvae, larvicide operation by use of Temephos (organophosphate) is carried out on identified of breeding sites. (www.maruleng.gov.za)





3.4 Data quality

This study relied on surveillance data, possibly the quality of the data is subjected to reporting inconsistencies, incompleteness of notification forms and flawed data capturing. Therefore, presenting missing data variables. Despite these shortcomings, it is worth noting that routinely collected data through the provincial malaria surveillance system remains the basis for measuring malaria trends over time when cautiously analysed and interpreted. The findings are not expected to be substantially affected by data quality.

3.5 Data collection methods

Data (secondary data) was extracted from Provincial Integrated Malaria Information System and Patient records using data collecting tool (as stated above) developed by the researcher (see Appendix C). The above variables were obtained from the database at Malaria institution. The following retrospective information was collected:

Malaria morbidity and mortality data.

All malaria data for the period under review (2013-2018) were obtained from the provincial Integrated Malaria Information System (IMIS) under Malaria Control Programmes of the Department of Health. Malaria morbidity and mortality data consisting of both passive and active cases based on definitive diagnosis reported from 2013 to 2018 were extracted from the IMIS. The data consisted of the following variables: date of diagnosis, age, gender, municipality, source country, source province and locality. Since malaria transmission in South Africa is seasonal, data was aggregated by season rather than by calendar year.

3.6 Data analysis.

All collected data was analysed by data analyst using the Statistical Package for Social Scientists (SPSS) version 24. Results were summarized and presented in tables, percentages, and charts pie charts. Data was captured entered and validated using Microsoft Excel and checked for errors and consistency. Descriptive statistics tests which included chi-square, cross tabulation and Case Fatality Rates are presented. The chi-square test was used to evaluate the associations between categorical variables (gender, country, province, and district) and malaria outcomes and p < 0.005 were regarded as statistically significant.



3.7 Ethical considerations

3.7.1 Ethics

According to Walton (2015), Ethics are a set of guidelines drawn up to protect the right of the research subjects and maintain 3 basic principles, which are principles of respect for human dignity, beneficence, and justice which guides the researcher and serve the aim or goal of research and apply to people who conduct scientific research or other activities. Ethics consideration should be adhered in research as it affects all the stages of research planning (Walton, 2015).

3.7.2 Ethical Clearance

Ethical clearance was obtained from the University of Venda Higher Degrees Ethics Committee. The permission to conduct the study was sought from Limpopo province, Department of Health as well as Maruleng Municipality.

3.8 Dissemination of the Study findings.

The results of the study in the form of dissertation will be disseminated to the University of Venda School of Health Science and the Library department

- Copies of dissertation will also be submitted to Department of Health at both provincial and district level
- Maruleng Municipality outbreak team will also receive a copy of the study in the form of dissertation
- It is also envisaged that the findings be publishing in the accredited journal so that it will be accessible to many audience

Limitations

The present study acknowledges several limitations since it relied given that it relies mainly on routine surveillance data and there was a possibility of missing or incomplete data from some of the records thus the quality of the data is comprised. The reporting health institutions data has potential for underreporting malaria cases, as some may not have presented at the health facilities. Health facility-based data can be affected by many factors including accessibility of the facilities by patients, perceptions of care and whether self-treatment is available to the patients and furthermore lack of systematic inclusion of data from other sources such as traditional healers, faith-based organisations and self-treatment cases. The instrument use to collect information did not enable us to evaluate fully the socioeconomic and environmental factors that may be inherently associated with malaria risk in Maruleng.



CHAPTER 4

RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION

4.1. Introduction

The study explored and described malaria incidence trends and determined the effect of vector control coverage in Maruleng Municipality. Retrospective data were collected and analysed using SPSS. The findings are presented in frequency, tables, and percentages. The study findings are presented according to study-specific objectives.

Malaria cases in Maruleng Municipality, Mopani District

The graph below shows the distribution of malaria cases according to the health institutions reported from the year 2013-2018. From the 874 cases reported, Sekororo Hospital (n=455) reported the highest number of malaria cases followed by Hoedspruit clinic (n=161). However, other clinics received lower, but the considerable number of cases and these include Bismark (n=43), Turkey (n=48) and The Oaks (n=39) among others.



Figure 4.1: Malaria cases in Maruleng Municipality, Mopani District



4.2. Malaria case notification and incidence rate

Table 4.1 below presents the number of cases, malaria deaths, and fatality rates according to malaria seasons. From September 2013 to March 2018, a total of 874(mean cases=175) confirmed malaria cases were reported in Maruleng Municipality, Mopani District, Limpopo Province. The number of cases per malaria season ranged from 13 cases in 2013 and increased to 1637 cases in 2017. However, it then dropped to 83 cases in 2018. The total number of malaria attributed death was 15; 2017 and 2015 reported the highest number of deaths respectively.

 Table 4.1: Number of reported malaria cases and malaria-attributed deaths, Maruleng

 Municipality, 2013 - 2018 malaria seasons.

Year	No. of reported cases	% (Percentage)	No. of Malaria Deaths	CFR (%)
2013	24	2.7	01	4.2
2015	113	12.9	04	3.5
2016	17	1.9	02	11.2
2017	637	72.9	07	1.1
2018	83	9.5	01	1.2

**CPR= Case Fatality Rate

Figure 4.2. below shows malaria incidence rate for season 2013/14, which indicated 11 cases per 1000 population, and it dropped to 2 cases per 1000 population in 2015/16. Although it dropped in the latest period 2017/18, a notable and worrisome rise of 64 cases per 1000 population was recorded in the 2016/17period.



Figure 4.2 Incidence of malaria (per 1000 population) in Maruleng Municipality, 2013- 2019 malaria seasons.



4.3. Malaria incidence according to age and gender in a period of 2013-2019

Table 4.2 below shows malaria incidence estimates according to age groups. However, it clearly illustrates that all the age groups were affected, although the numbers fluctuate. The mean age was 30 years and there were significant differences in malaria incidence among the different age groups ($x^2 = 389.423$; P < 0.003). From all the reported cases, the highest (22.4%) proportion was from the 21-30 years age group, followed by 18.1% from the 31-40 years and the shocking 16.9% from the young population aged 0-10 years old. Although malaria incidence fluctuates around other age groups as indicated in the table, the senior citizens represented more than 20% percent of malaria incidence.

Table	4.2.	Age-specific	malaria	incidence	and	case	fatality	rate,	Maruleng	Municipalit	у,
2013 -	2018	8 malaria sea	sons.								

Age Group	Seasonal Notified Cases	Proportion (%)	Case Fatality Rate
0-10	148	16.9	0.7
11-20	136	15.6	0.7
21-30	196	22.4	2.6
31-40	158	18.1	1.5
41-50	108	12.4	3.7
51-60	82	9.4	1.2
>61	46	10.9	2.2

**p<0.003

Figure **4.3a** and **b** show that during the 2013 to 2019 malaria period males had significantly higher malaria infections than females in all age groups, accounting for 60.8% of all confirmed cases and 39.1% in females; the trend test was statistically significant ($x^2 = 3.353$; P < 0.005). The mean incidence rate was 55.5 cases per 1000 in males and 38.8 cases per 1000 in females. As indicated in figure **4.3b** in both males and females, malaria incidence increased from age 0-10 years, reaching the peak among different age groups between 21-30 years for males and 31-40 for females. It declined thereafter.





Figure 4.3a. Malaria incidence according to gender for the period 2013-2019



Figure 4.3 b. Malaria cases according to gender and age groups

4.4. Age and gender-specific malaria mortality

The study noted a total number of 15 deaths (10male and 5 female) from the recorded malaria cases.



5). Table 4.3 below shows malaria-attributed mortality which increased with age. However, the incident rate was more pronounced among the21-50 years age group both male and female. 21-30 years having the highest (33.3%; n=05) number of deaths. The study noted that the 31-40 years male age group was not affected. There were significant differences in the CFR among males and females. However, similarities are noted as the CPR increases with age from 0.7-3.7.

Age group (years)	Malaria attributed deaths (%)	Female (CFR)	Male (CFR)	CFR For Female & Male
0-10	1 (6.7)	-	1 (1.7)	0.7
11-20	1 (6.7)	-	1 (1.8)	0.7
21-30	5 (33.3)	1 (0.8)	3 (5.2)	2.6
31-40	2 (13.3)	2 (2.3)	-	1.5
41-50	4 (26.7)	2 (2.9)	2 (5.5)	3.7
51-60	1 (6.7)	-	1 (3)	1.2
>61	1 (6.7)	-	2 (10)	2.2

Table 4.3: Age and	gender-specific	malaria mortality
--------------------	-----------------	-------------------

4.4. Seasonal malaria cases variation

Figure **4.4** below illustrates the seasonal variation of malaria cases in Maruleng Municipality between the year 2013-2019. The table shows that malaria cases followed a different pattern over the five-year study period. Even though malaria cases were prevalent throughout each year, cases increased from January to May, decreasing from June to September, and increase again in August to December. The pattern of malaria cases in Maruleng Municipality shows that it was high in 2017 followed by the 2015 malaria seasons.





Figure 4.4. The seasonal malaria variation

4.5. Geographical sources of malaria infection

Figure 4.5 below presents the geographical sources of malaria infections in Maruleng Municipality from 2013 to 2018. 50 sources were recorded and infections from these areas varied from Metz (10.5%), Tickline (5.7%), and Turkey (5%) having the highest number of local sources of malaria infection. 3.2% of the infection was untraceable, with considerable foreign and imported sources from Zimbabwe (1.4%) and Mozambique (3.2%) respectively.




Figure 4.5. Geographical sources of the malaria infections reported.

4.6. Effects of vector control coverage

Figures 4.6a-g illustrate the vector control coverage according to localities in the Maruleng Municipality. The study indicates, the spraying efforts, which were done in every season from the 2013-2019 malaria seasons. Figure 4.6a below illustrates the vector control coverage in Maruleng Municipality in the 2012/13. From all the 19 localities, majority of the sprayed structures were rooms followed by shelters. Bismarck, Sofa, and Enable had many rooms that were sprayed to control malaria. All the sprayed shelters shared similar percentages across localities; however, a notable high number of unsprayed structures were reported in Willows, Tickyline, Lorraine, and Metz respectively.





4.6a. Vector control in the malaria season of 2012/13

Figure **4.6b** below, established that more unsprayed structures in Maruleng Municipality were distributed across the municipal area. The areas which had a high number of unsprayed structures include Worcester, Tickline, Metz, and Turkey. However, many rooms in localities such as Finale, Bismark, and The Oaks were noticed compared to the previous malaria season.



4.6b. Malaria season 2013-2014



Figure **4.6c** below shows that few structures were sprayed cross Maruleng Municipality; however, many rooms were sprayed in Bismark, Sofaya, and Enable. The unsprayed structures were many in Tickline, Worcester and Turkey. This report is similar to the 201/13 malaria season vector control.



Figure 4.6c Malaria Season 2014-2015

The figure **4.6d** below indicates that The Willows community had the highest number of structures that were not sprayed and the other areas like Mica, Offcolaco and Trichadsaal nothing much was done regarding the vector control.





Figure 4.6d. Malaria season 2015-2016

In the malaria season 2016-2017 only 10 localities were captured, out of these localities, Hoedspruit, and the Oaks had the highest number of sprayed structures. However, there were many unsprayed localities, although the number was at average, and these include The Willows, Turkey and the Oaks.



Figure 4.6e Malaria season 2016-2017

As shown below (**4.6f**) 2017-2018 malaria season a total of 17 localities were recorded during vector control; most of them were sprayed rooms. Despite the low number of unsprayed structures per locality, unsprayed localities were many.



Figure 4.6f. Malaria season 2017-2018



The figure below shows the vector control among 20 localities in e season of 2018-19 and the majority of the areas sprayed were rooms as compared to shelters.



Figure 4.6g. Malaria season 2018-2019

4.7. Vector control according to Malaria seasons 2013/2019

A summary of vector control over the 6-season period of malaria below indicates that spraying rooms was at the peak between 2012/13 and 2015/16 period. However, spraying shelters were even from 2012-2016 and abruptly declined throughout 2018.





Figure 4.7. Vector Control according to malaria periods (in years)

4.8 Summary of insecticides and structures covered during vector control (2013-2018).

Table 4.4 gives a summary of the amount of residual insecticide used, the number of structures covered by the indoor residual sprays, and spray coverage in Maruleng Municipality during the 2013-2018 malaria seasons. The data shows a total of 4147.29kg of two different residual insecticides(K-Othrine=729.89 &Fendona=3417.4) were used to spray a total of 674457 structures.

Table	4.4.	Summary	of	insecticides	and	structures	covered	during	vector	control
(20132	2018).									

Insecticide	Amount of insecticide used (kg)	The seasonal mean insecticide used (SD)	Total Number of structures sprayed
K-Othrine	729.89	6.95	450604
Fendona	3417.4	89.9	223853
Total	4147.29	96.85	674457



CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

5.1 Introduction

The study explored and explained the trends of Malaria incidence to determine the effect of vector control coverage in Maruleng Municipality. The study established and reported 874 cases of Malaria with 15 deaths in a period of five years (20132018).Maruleng Municipality can be regarded as a malaria high risk area. The cumulative incidence rate in the area five years prior to fieldwork was 16/1000, like other highly African and South African endemic areas (Mbacham*et al.,* 2019). Historically, most malaria surveys trends particularly in South Africa and Africa, in general, are collected and presented at a global scale, national or district levels, which does not give a detailed pattern of malaria at lower levels such as municipalities, ward, and villages (Gunda *et al.,* 2017). Therefore, study, responded the research gaps identified in Municipal malaria-endemic data from the period of 2013-2018 of Maruleng Municipality, Mopani District in Limpopo Province of South Africa.

There are confirmed cases of malaria (2013-2018), giving a more accurate picture of the malaria situation in the area compared to unconfirmed malaria cases in some previous studies. The 2013-2018time-series trends show a gradual decline in malaria morbidity and mortality in Maruleng Municipality over the past five malaria seasons. However, notable peaks in the number of cases were reported in 2017, although they abruptly dropped in 2018. Pradhan *et al.*, (2016) shared a similar observation in India, Odisha region wherein a drop in cases was witnessed in 2008 and a decline in incidence during 2009–2013 was three times steeper than 2003– 2007. The declines were associated with the intensification of antimalaria activities in 2008, and the study noted a large-scale of new intervention packages and reinforcement of existing ones in the state, from 2008.

The results show that malaria incidence is significantly associated (p=0.003) with age groups, 21-30 years are the most vulnerable. Therefore, it can be argued that age can play an important role in malaria transmission. This study shows a different result on the influence of age in malaria incidence compared to preceding studies, which did not regard age as an important variable like geographical elements, such as higher rainfall, because it necessarily results in significant changes in malaria cases (Lowe, Chirombo& Tompkins, 2013). A similar study in Eritrea recorded



that malaria incidence was uniformly distributed across all age groups, contrary to the African situation, where malaria is considered a disease that affect children under 5 years and pregnant women (Bhatt *et al.*, 2015). Malaria transmission trends in Africa are diverse, and it should not be assumed that the burden is restricted to certain target populations and this, in other words, brings the notion of Lowe, Chirombo, and Tompkns (2013) who noted the influence of rainfall on malaria risk. It was interesting to note that males had a higher risk of malaria compared to their female counterparts.

Higher malaria incidences were reported among males than females. To explain this difference, there is need to study the role of other variables such as gender and malaria transmission which are not included in this study because of the lack of complete data on malaria interventions at the time of the study. Moreover, a study in Africa gave a detailed explanation that malaria incidence rate in males is higher than in females because males frequently move around, mostly for work and this movement might also include across the borders and malaria-endemic areas (Mbacham*et al.*, 2019).

Apart from the peak incidence at 21-30 years, the > 10 years age category is the second at risk, which accounts for malaria control interventions mostly been targeted at pregnant women and children below 5 years in the country (South Africa). Under 10 years incidence rate was lower than 21-30 years maybe because children at this age are mostly indoors at night and benefit from the indoor house spraying. However, as they get older, their sleeping patterns may be less regular; therefore, be at risk of infected mosquito bites (Maharaj *et al.*, 2019). As purported by Manh *et al.*, (2011). these interventions can resultantly lead to a decrease in incidence among these age groups and this could possibly explain fewer infections below 5 years age category. A similar study was reported in Bostwana. The study showed that 21-40 years were most affected, and they present a higher burden of malaria, which has economic implications, because the age group is the most economically productive. Therefore, it is critical for malaria control interventions to target all age categories for better impact. In areas of high transmission, children and infants constitutes malaria burden, while in areas of low transmission, older ages carry the most burden (Bai *et al.*, 2019).

Throughout the five-year period (2013-2018), the studies established that malaria cases increased from January, reached a peak in May; dropped shortly and increased again from August and dropped sharply in December. Degarege*et al.*, (2019) supports these findings; malaria high risk was noted during the first months of the year, then decreased sharply. The increased risk



observed during the first months of the year but mainly in April and May after the rains is related to the large number of breeding sites for Anopheles during this period, when rainfall becomes abundant and irrigation water is released from the barrages for farming. The other supporting study in Mpumalanga recorded inter-annual variation from 2001 to 2009, with a distinct malaria transmission season, prominent peaks in January and February and the January/February peaks could be attributed to favourable climatic conditions for malaria transmission (peak summer season) or introduced parasites by human immigration from various places of origin after the December holiday season (Khosa *et al.*, 2013).

A considerable number of the cases reported during the period (2013-2018) were imported from Mozambique and Zimbabwe respectively. Zhou *et al.*, (2016) found that in some societies, men have a greater risk of contracting malaria due to occupational reasons, particularly those working in mines, fields or migrate to high endemicity areas. Khosa *et al.*, (2013) emphasised that migrant workers to Limpopo are also predominantly males and the latter is partly reflected by the higher percentage of males in the group of cases that are (probably) not originating from the province.

The reported malaria cases throughout the five-year malaria period varied according to localities. , they were specifically higher in Bismark, Mertza, Enable and Sofaya and previous studies postulated that these differences may be due to specific characteristics of houses or their locations that may facilitate contact between humans and mosquitoes (Baeit*et al.,* 2019). An analysis of domicile characteristics including roofing and wall materials used suggest that walls made from mud, a common type of housing construction in the western lowlands of Eritrea. This increased risk for *parasitemia* compared to individuals living in houses with other types of construction materials (Bhai *et al.,* 2019). Zhou *et al.,* (2016) further emphasised that malaria diversity, and cross borders, increase the chance of potentially fatal cases and malaria intervention among this internationally moving population. Therefore, intervention in the border areas should be strengthened.

Vector control aims to limit the transmission of pathogens by reducing or eliminating human contact with the vector and it is primarily an insecticide. It relies on indoor residual spraying (IRS) of houses and the distribution of long-lasting insecticide-treated bed nets (LLINs). The study established two insecticides (K-Othrine and Fendona). The indoor residual spraying varied across years, but little was done in 2015/16, resulting in more cases in 2017 malaria season. To argue the significance of insecticides, Okiro*et al.*, (2010) reported a decline in malaria incidence burden across several countries in Africa, suggesting that the epidemiology of malaria across the



continent is in transition. However, it remains a moot point to suggest that IRS is the only method to the scaling down malaria cases. Although, Pradhan*et al.*, (2016) attested that selective indoor residual spraying (IRS) remains one of the keyin-vector control strategies, but primarily used for epidemic prevention and response. The K-Othrine and Fendona insecticides are highly effective as a malaria control measure to reduce malaria incidence and deaths particularly in the 2016/17 malaria season. However, there is a worrisome larger number of unsprayed structures noted in this study.

Ngomane and De Jager (2012) emphasised that fewer people at risk of malaria are protected by indoor residual spraying (IRS)in South Africa. IRS is a prevention method that involves spraying the inside walls of dwellings with insecticides. However, the high number of unsprayed structures in Maruleng Municipality might be because of the economic cost of some chemicals. Brook *et al.*, (2013) attested that the IRS coverage declines may be due to the switch from pyrethroids to more expensive insecticides in response to increasing pyrethroid resistance, or changes in operational strategies. These strategies show a decrease in countries aiming for the elimination of malaria. Although increased IRS coverage has significantly contributed to the decreasing trends in malaria cases and deaths; factors such as the combination of preventative interventions include early diagnosis, case management, effective treatment with ACT, low numbers of mosquito vectors, improved education, and awareness, improving socioeconomic indices are discussed in the subsequent section (recommendation).





CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Introduction

This chapter concludes the study and provided recommendations based on the findings, and accordingly, this section will be arranged into 2 sections (conclusions and recommendations). The study sought to explore and describe Malaria incidence trends and determine the effect of vector control coverage in Maruleng Municipality. In summation, the study established a significant and sharp decrease in malaria morbidity and mortality in 2018 compared to the previous years in Maruleng Municipality. Malaria cases fluctuated, varied across age groups and statistically significant to gender. Although the death rate was low over a period and sharply declined compared to previous decades, the cases varied across localities, probably due to different levels of vector control coverage (IRS) and interventions.

6.2: Conclusions

The following conclusions were drawn from the findings:

- Malaria cases were significantly associated with gender, wherein males were more vulnerable than their female counterparts
- The cases are agespecific, high cases among the active group (0-30 years) compared to the 50⁺ years
- Although the vector control spanned across a five-year period, malariarecurrence can be attributed to the comprehensive amount of unsprayed structures, moreover, imported cases from Zimbabwe and Mozambique can also be blamed for the cases in different localities
- Although malaria cases and mortality reached a peak in 2017 the study concluded the 2018 malaria season showed a gradual decline in morbidity and mortality
- A sharp decrease in both malaria cases and mortality between 2013-18 indicates an association and time between increased IRS coverage and the reduction in malariarelated morbidity and mortality

47



6.3. Recommendations

Although the established a decline in malaria morbidity and mortality in Maruleng Municipality, the relative increases require more interventions. Therefore, the study outlined several recommendations. Although the study noted that only two insecticides were used during the IRS, it is important to recommend a holistic approach that includes a combination of other control interventions. The results highlight the need to continue with current control strategies such as IRS until interruption in local malaria transmission is completely achieved and alternative control strategies are implemented. To ensure a constant improvement in malaria control and subsequent elimination, a comprehensive intervention plan which encompasses a combined set of widespread interventions is required. The following practice, policy and research recommendations were formulated to address the issues identified to eliminate malaria from a public health concern problem particularly in Maruleng Municipality and the globally in general:

- Vector control coverage through IRS has been shown to be highly effective, historically and presently however lack of funding and weak programmatic capacity undermines programs and mean that we are not well equipped to face the pressing new challenges to malaria control VBD control. Therefore, there is an urgent need for increased investment in strengthening programmatic capacity for surveillance and control, and the development of new vector control tools.
- The role of entomologists in malaria vector control is significant. Entomological surveillance is a fundamentally important activity in a malaria vector control program. Therefore, without skilled entomological support, analysis and decision making for IRS, particularly for IRM, is impossible.
- National and provincial malaria control programmes are required to develop capacity within this field. Malaria entomologists guide and support malaria vector control programmes. Their participation in programme planning, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation is recommended. The skills required for adequate entomological surveillance include mosquito sampling in the field, species identification using morphological and molecular methods, vector incrimination using immunological methods, and insecticide susceptibility testing using standard biological (bioassay) techniques

48



- Considering the alarming rate of imported cases from Zimbabwe and Mozambique, it is important to strengthen the immigrant/border control, screening people before coming to South Africa
- Investing in more resources for malaria control and a holistic approach to malaria control including the department of health, agriculture, and interested non-governmental organisations is recommended. All these sectors will enable the surveillance system and the facilitation of immediate detection, notification, and response to outbreaks and individual malaria cases.
- Strengthened health promotion and awareness programmes by the health department to limit exposure to potentially harmful insecticides and promote the use of alternative control approaches are recommended.
- There is a need to create opportunities to improve the IRS through better stratification of spraying activities such as the use of geographical information systems to monitor and record spray performance at household level, and linking IRS information to malaria case notifications within communities.
- The study recommends further research across areas and platforms, while anticipating for new tools and strategies. It is important to revisit successful programs from the past and adopt a problem-solving approach that implements tailored vector control solutions from the readily available interventions, including insecticide and non-insecticide control methods
- Malaria-related mortality varying according to age and gender. It is, therefore, important to conduct further research to address the risk factors associated with malaria transmission.





References

- Abdulla S, Armstrong Schellenberg J, Nathan R, Mukasa O, Marchant T, Smith T, et al. Impact on malaria morbidity of a programme supplying insecticide treated nets in children under 2 years in Tanzania: community cross-sectional study. Br Med J 2001; 322:270-273.
- Acosta C, Galindo C, Schellenberg JA, Aponte JJ, Kahigwa E, Urassa H, et al. Evaluation of the SPf66 vaccine for malaria control when delivered through EPI scheme in Tanzania. Trop Med Int Health 1999; 4:368-376.

Adams I, Darko D, Accorsi S. Malaria: A Burden Explored. Bull Health Information 2004; 1(1):28-34.

- Alonso PL, Sacarlal J, Apunte JJ, Leach A, Macete E, Milman J, et al. Efficacy of the RTS.S/AS02A vaccine against Plasmodium falciparum infection and disease in young African children: randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004; 364:1411-1420.
- Aneck-Hahn NH, Schulenburg GW, Bornman MS, Farias P, De Jager C. Impaired Semen Quality Associated with Environmental DDT Exposure in Young Men Living in Malaria Area in the Limpopo Province, South Africa. J Androl 2007, 28:423-434.
- Arrow KJ, Panosian C, Gelband H, editors. Committee on the Economics of Antimalarial Drugs. Saving Lives, Buying Time: Economics of Malaria Drugs in an Age of Resistance. Washington DC: National Academy Press; 2004. p. 388.

Attaran A, Maharaj R. Ethical debate: doctoring malaria, badly: the global campaign to ban DDT. Br Med J 2000; 321:1403-1405.

- Barnes KI, Durrheim DN, Little F, Jackson A, Mehta U, Allen E, et al. Effect of Artemether Lumefantrine Policy and Improved Vector Control on Malaria Burden in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. PLoS Med 2005; 2(1): e330.
- Beard J, Sladden T, Morgan G, Berry G, Brooks L, McMichael A. Health impacts of pesticide exposure in a cohort of outdoor workers. Environ Health Perspect 2003; 111:724-730.



- Binka FN, Kubadje A, Adjuik M, Williams LA, Lengeler C, Maude GH, et al. Impact of permethrinim pregnatedbednets on child mortality in Kassena-Nankana District, Ghana: a randomized controlled trial. Trop Med Int Health 1996; 1:147-154.
- Biscoe ML, Mutero CM, Kramer RA. Current Policy and Status of DDT Use for Malaria Control in Ethiopia, Uganda, Kenya and South Africa. Int Water Management Inst; 2004.
- Bjorkman A, Phillips-Howard PA. The epidemiology of drug-resistant malaria. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1990; 84:177-180.
- Bloland PB. Drug resistance in malaria. WHO monograph WHO/CDS/CSR/DRS/2001.4. Geneva: WHO; 2001. p. 1-27.
- Blumberg L, Frean J. Malaria control in South Africa challenges and successes. S Afr Med J 2007; 97(11):1193-1197.

Blumberg L. Odyssean and non-mosquito-transmitted forms of malaria. In: Schlagenhauf-Lawlor P, editor. Travelers' Malaria. Hamilton, Canada: BC Decker, 2007

- Bojang KA, Obaro SK, D'Alessandro U, Bennet S, Langerock P, Targett GA, et al. An efficacy trial of the malaria vaccine SPf66 in Gambian infants - second year of follow-up. Vaccine 1998; 16:62-67.
- Boland PB, Williams H. Malaria Control During Mass Population Movements and Disasters. National Research Council of the National Academies, Roundtable on the Demography of Forced Migration. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2002. p. 8-30.
- Booman M, Durrheim DN, La Grange K, Martin C, Mabuza AM, Zitha A, et al. Using a geographical information system to plan a malaria control program in South Africa. Bull World Health Organ 2000; 78:1438-1444.
- Booman M, Sharp BL, Martin CL, Manjate B, La Grange JJP, Durrheim DN. Enhancing malaria control using a computerized management system in southern Africa. Malar J 2003; 2: 13.
- Borman R, De Jager C, Worku Z, Farias P, Reif S. DDT and urogenital malformation in newborn boys in malarial area. Br J Urol Int 2010; 106:405-411.



- Bornman MS, Delport R, Becker P, Risenga S, de Jager C. Urogenital birth defects in neonates from a high-risk malaria area in Limpopo Province, South Africa. Epidemiol 2005; 16(5):126-127.
- Bouma M, Rowland M. Failure of passive zooprophylaxis: Cattle ownership in Pakistan is associated with a higher prevalence of malaria. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1995; 89(4):351353.
- Bouwman H, Sereda B, Meinardt HM. Simultaneous presence of DDT and pyrethroid residues in human breast milk from a malaria endemic area in South Africa. Environ Pollut 2006; 144:902917.
- Brabin B. An assessment of low birthweight risk in primiparae as an indicator of malaria control in pregnancy. Int J Epidemiol 1991; 20:276-283.
- Brabin B. An assessment of low birthweight risk in primiparae as an indicator of malaria control in pregnancy. Int J Epidemiol 1991; 20:276-283.
- Breman JG, Alilio MS, Mills A. Conquering the intolerable burden of malaria: what's new, what's needed: a summary. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2004; 71(Suppl 2): S1-S15.
- Breman JG, Halloway CN. Malaria surveillance counts. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 77:36.

Breman JG, Plowe CV. A malaria vaccine for control: more progress. J Infect Dis 2009; 200:317.

- Breman JG. The intolerable burden of malaria: a new look at the numbers. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001; 64(Suppl 1-2):S1-S106.
- Breman JG. The intolerable burden of malaria: a new look at the numbers. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001; 64(Suppl 1-2): S1-S106.
- Brogdon WG, McAllister JC. Insecticide resistance and vector control. Emerg Infect Dis 1998; 4:605-613.
- Brogdon WG. Biochemical resistance detection: an alternative to bioassay. Parasitol Today 1989; 5:56-60.
- Brogdon WG. Laboratory and field micro assay of cholinesterase in whole blood, plasma, and erythrocytes. Bull World Health Organ 1987; 65(2):227-232.

52



- Bruce-Chwatt L. Malaria. In Gillies HM, Warrall DA, editors. Essential malariology. 3rd ed. London, United Kingdom: Edward Arnold; 1993.
- Bruce-Chwatt LJ. History of malaria from prehistory to eradication. In: Wernsdorfer WH, McGregor I, editors. Malaria: Principles and Practice of Malariology. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 1988.
- Bruce-Chwatt LJ. Malaria and its control: present situation and future prospects. Ann Rev Public Health 1987; 8:75-110.
- Bukirwa H, Yau V, Kigozi R, Filler S, Quick L, Lugemwa M, et al. Assessing the impact of indoor residual spraying on malaria morbidity using a sentinel site surveillance system in Western Uganda. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2009; 81:611-614.
- Capel PD, Nelson BJ. Bibliography of synthetic pyrethroid insecticides in the environment. Water Resources of California, United States Geological Survey (USGS) Water Resources Information; 2000.
- Casman EA, Dowlatabadi H, editors. The Contextual Determinants of Malaria. Washington DC: Resources for the Future Press; 2002. p. 382.
- Chaccour, C.,Killeen, G.F. Mind the gap: residual malaria transmission, veterinary endectocides and livestock as targets for malaria vector control. Malaria journal.2016; 20-24.
- Chaundhry Q, Schöder P, Werck-Reichhart D, Grajek W, Marecik R. Prospects and limitations of phytoremediation for the removal of persistent pesticides in the environment. Environ Sci Pollut Res 2002; 9(1):4-17.
- Cibulskis RE, Bell D, Christophel E, Hii J, Delacollette C, Bakgaita N, et al. Estimating Trends in the Burden of Malaria at Country Level. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007: 77(Suppl 6):S133-S137.
- Collins FH, Besansky NJ. Vector biology and the control of malaria in Africa. Science 1994; 264:1874-1875.
- Collins FH, Kamau L, Ranson H, Vulule JM. Molecular entomology and prospects for -malaria control. Bull World Organ 2000; 78(12).
- Corbett EL, Steketee RW, Kuile FO, Latif AS, Kamali A, Hayes RJ. AIDS In Africa III: HIV1/AIDS and the control of other infectious diseases in Africa. Lancet 2002; 359: 2177-2187

53



- Coulibaly, D., Travassos, M.A., Kone, A.K., Tolo, Y., Laurens, M.B., Traore, K., Diarra, I, Niangaly, A.,
 Daou, M., Dembele, A, Sissoko, M. Stable malaria incidence despite scaling up control strategies in a malaria vaccine-testing site in Mali.Malaria journal,2014 1:300-374.
- Cox JH, Mouchet J, Bradley DJ. Determinants of Malaria in Sub-Saharan Africa. In: Casman EA, Dowlatabadi H, editors. The Contextual Determinants of Malaria. Washington, DC: RFF Press; 2000. 167-186.
- Craig MH, Kleinschmidt I, Nawn JB, Le Sueur D, Sharp BL. Exploring 30 years of malaria case data in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: Part I. The impact of climatic factors. Trop Med Int Health 2004; 9(12):1247-1257.
- Craig MH, Snow RW, Sueur D. A climate based distribution model of malaria transmission in Sub-Saharan Africa. Parasitol Today 1999; 15:104-105.
- Creswell, J.W. Educational research: planning conducting and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research 4th edition. Boston MA: Pearson:2012
- Creswell, J.W. *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches.* 4th edition. Thousand Oaks. Sage:2014.
- Curtis CF, Myamba J, Wilkes TJ. Various pyrethroids on bednets and curtains. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 1992; 87(Suppl 3):S363-S370.
- Curtis CF. Impregnated bednets, malaria control and child mortality in Africa. Trop Med Int Health 1996; 1:137-138.
- Curtis CF. Should DDT be banned by International Treaty? Parasitol Today 2000; 16: 119-121
- Davidson G. Insecticide Usage: An Anti-alarmist View of Its Advantages and Disadvantages. Trop Dis Bull 1989; 86(6):102-107.
- Day KP. The Epidemiology of Malaria. In: Wahlgern M, Perlmann P, editors. Malaria: Molecular and Clinical Aspects. Harwood Academic Publishers; 1999. p. 57-86.
- De Jager C, Farias P, Barraza-Villarreal A, Avila MH, Ayotte P, Dewailly E et al. Reduced Seminal Parameters Associated With Environmental DDT Exposure and p.p'-DDE Concentrations in Men in Chiapas, Mexico: A Cross-Sectional Study. J Androl 2006; 27:16-27.



- Department of Health. Draft National Malaria Elimination Strategy (2011-2018). Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2010.
- Department of Health. Epidemiological Comments: Malaria Control in South Africa. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2008. p. 1-32.
- Department of Health. Guidelines for the treatment of malaria in South Africa. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2009.

Department of Health. Malaria Control in South Africa. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2007.

Department of Health. Malaria Policy. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2006.

- Department of Health. Prevalence and Distribution of Malaria in South Africa. 2007 Annual Report. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2007.
- Department of Health. Prevalence and Distribution of Malaria in South Africa. 2013 Annual Report. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2013.
- Department of Health. Prevalence and Distribution of Malaria in South Africa. 2015 Annual Report. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2015.
- Department of Health. Prevalence and Distribution of Malaria in South Africa. 2009 Annual Report. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2009.
- Department of Health. Prevalence and Distribution of Malaria in South Africa. 2016 Annual Report. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2016.
- Diabate A, Baldet T, Chandre F, et al. The role of agricultural use of insecticides in resistance to pyrethroids in Anopheles gambiae s.l. in Burkina Faso. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2002; 67(6):617-622.
- Djenontin A, Chabi J, Baldet T, Irish S, Pennetier C, Hougard JM, et al. Managing insecticide resistance in malaria vectors by combining carbamate-treated plastic wall sheeting and pyrethroid-treated bed nets. Malar J 2009; 8: 233.
- Dobrokhotov B. Alternatives to Chemical Methods for Vector Control. Ann Soc Belg Med Trop 1991; 71(Suppl 1):S27-S33.



- Donnelly MJ, McCall PJ, Lengeler C, Bates I, D'Alessandro U, Barnish G, et al. Malaria and urbanization in sub-Saharan Africa. Malaria J 2005; 4: 12.
- Dyce C. The analysis of parasite transmission by bloodsucking insects. Ann Rev Entomol 1992; 37:1-19.
 - Eskenazi B, Chevrier J, Goldman Rosas L, Anderson HA, Bornman MS, Bouwman H. The Pine River Statement: Human Health Consequences of DDT Use. Environ Health Perspect 2009; 117(9):1359-1367.
- Farenhorst M, Knols BG, Thomas MB, Howard AF, Takken W, Rowland M. Synergy in efficacy of fungal entomopathogens and permethrin against West African insecticide-resistant Anopheles gambiae mosquitoes. PLoS Med 2010; 5(58):e12081.
- Fillinger U, Lindsay SW. Suppression of exposure to malaria vectors by an order of magnitude using microbial larvicides in rural Kenya. Trop Med Int Health 2006; 11:1-14.
- Flückiger, M. and Ludwig, M. Malaria suitability, urbanization and persistence: Evidence from China over more than 2000 years, 2017. *European Economic Review*, *92*, .146-160.
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). Pesticides as water pollutants. In: Control of Water Pollution from Agriculture. Rome, Italy: FAO; 1990. [homepage on the Internet] [cited 2009 Apr 21]. Available from: http://www.fao.org

Frances SP, Wirtz RA. Repellents: past present and future. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 2005; 21:1-3.

Frean J, Blumberg L. Odyssean and non-mosquito-transmitted forms of malaria. In: Schlagenhauf-Lawlor P, editor. Travelers' Malaria. Hamilton, Canada: BC Decker, 2007.

- French N, Gilks CF. Fresh from the field: some controversies in tropical medicine and hygiene: HIV and malaria, do they interact. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 2000; 94:233-237
- Gallup JL, Sachs JD. The economic burden of malaria. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001; 64(Suppl 12):S85-S96.
- Garabrant DH, Held J, Langholz B, Peters JM, Mack TM. DDT and related compounds and risks of pancreatic cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1992; 84:764-771.



Gear JHD. Malaria in South Africa: Its history and problems. S Afr J Epi Inf 1989; 84:102-106.

- Georghiou GP. The magnitude of the resistance problem. Pesticide Resistance: Strategies and Tactics for Management. Washington DC: National Academy Press; 1986. p 14-43.
- Gerritsen AA, Kruger P, van der Loeff MF, Grobusch MP. Malaria incidence in Limpopo Province, South Africa, 1998–2007. Malar J 2008; 7: 162.
 - Ghebreyesus TA, Witten KH, Getachew A, Yohannes AM, Tesfay W, Minass M, et al. The communitybased malaria control programme in Tigray, northern Ethiopia. A review of programme set-up, activities, outcomes and impact. Parassitologia 2000; 42:255-290.
 - Gillies MT, Coetzee M. A supplement to the Anophelinae of Africa South of the Sahara. South African Institute for Medical Research 1987; 55.
 - Gillies MT, De Meillon B. The Anophelinae of Africa South of the Sahara. South African Institute for Medical Research 1968; 54:127-150.
 - Girardin O, Dao D, Koudou BG, Esse C, Cisse G,Yao T, et al. Opportunities and limiting factors of intensive vegetable farming in malaria endemic Côte d'Ivoire. Acta Trop 2004; 89(2):109-123.
- Githeko AK, Lindsay SW, Confalonieri UE, Patz JA. Climate change and vector-borne diseases: a regional analysis. Bull World Health Organ 2000; 78(9):1136-1147.
- Goesch JN, Schwarz NG, Decker M-L, Oyakhirome S, Borchert LB, Kombila UD, et al. Socioeconomic status is inversely related to bed net use in Gabon. Malar J 2008; 7: 60.
 - Goodman CA, Coleman PG, Mills AJ. Cost-effectiveness of malaria control in sub-Saharan Africa. Lancet 1999; 354:378-385.
- Govere J, Durrheim DN, Baker L, Hunt R, Coetzee M. Efficacy of three insect repellents against the malaria vector Anopheles arabiensis. Med Vet Entomol 2000; 14:441-444.
 - Govere J, Durrheim DN, Coetzee M, Hunt RH. Malaria in Mpumalanga, South Africa, with special reference to the period 1987-1999. S Afr J Sci 2001; 97:55-58.



- Govere J, la Grange JJP, Durrheim DN, Freese JA, Sharp BL, Mabuza A, et al. Sulfadoxinepyrimethamine effectiveness against Plasmodium falciparum malaria in Mpumalanga, South Africa. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1999; 93:644.
- Govere JM, Durrheim DN, Kunene S. Malaria trends in South Africa and Swaziland and the introduction of synthetic pyrethroids to replace DDT for malaria vector control. S Afr J Sci 2002; 98:19-21.
 - Graves PM, Osgood DE, Thomson MC, Sereke K, Araia A, Zerom M et al. Effectiveness of malaria control during changing climate conditions in Eritrea, 1998–2003. Trop Med Int Health 2008; 13:218-28.

Greenwood B, Mutabingwa T, 2002. Malaria in 2002. Nature 2002; 415:670-672.

Greenwood B, Mutabingwa T, 2002. Malaria in 2002. Nature 2002; 415:670-672

- Guerin PJ, Olliaro P, Nosten F, Druilhe P, Laxminarayan R, Binka F, et al. Malaria: Current status of control, diagnosis, treatment, and a proposed agenda for research and development. Lancet Inf Dis 2002; 2:564-573.
- Guinovart C, Navia MM, Tanner M, Alonso PL. Malaria: Burden of Disease. Curr Mol Med 2006; 6:137-140.
- Gunawardena DM, Wickremasinghe AR, Muthuwatta L, Weerasingha S, Rajakaruna J, Senanayaka T, et al. Malaria risk factors in an endemic region of Sri Lanka, and the impact and cost implications of risk factor-based interventions. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1998; 58(5):533-542.
- Guyatt HL, Snow RW. The epidemiology and burden of Plasmodium falciparum related anemia among pregnant women in sub-Saharan Africa. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001; 64(Suppl 1-2):S36S44.
 - Habluetzel A, Diallo DA, Esposito F, Lamizana L, Pagnoni F, Lengeler C, et al. Do insecticide treated curtains reduce all-cause child mortality in Burkina Faso? Trop Med Int Health 1998; 2:855-862.

Hargreaves K, Koekemoer LL, Brooke BD, Hunt RH, Mthembu J, Coetzee M. Anopheles funestus resistant to pyrethroid insecticides in South Africa. Med Vet Entomol 2000; 14:181-189.

Harpham T, Tanner M. Urban health in Developing Countries: Progress and Prospects. London: Earthscan Publication; 1995.



- Hastings IM, D'Alessandro U. Modelling a predictable disaster: the rise and spread of drug resistance in malaria. Parasitol Today 2000; 16:340-347.
- Hay SI, Cox J, Rogers DJ, Randolph SE, Stern DI, Shanks DG, et al. Climate change and the resurgence of malaria in the East African highlands. Nature 2002; 415:905-909.
- Hay SI, Guerra CA, Tatern AJ, Noor AM, Snow RW. The global distribution and population at risk of malaria: past, present and future. Lancet 2004; 4:327-336.

Hemingway J, Field L, Vontas J. An overview of insecticide resistance. Science 2002; 298:96-97.

- Hemingway J, Ranson H. Insecticide resistance in insect vectors of human disease. Annual Rev Entomol 2000; 45:371-391.
 - Herrera-Portugal C, Ochoa H, Franco-Sanchez G, Yanez L, Diaz-Barriga F. Environmental pathways of exposure to DDT for children living in malarious areas of Chiapas, Mexico. Envrion Res 2005; 99:158-163.
 - Hewitt S, Kamal M, Muhammad N, Rowland M. An entomological investigation of the likely impact of cattle ownership on malaria in an Afghan refugee camp in the North West Frontier Province of Pakistan. Med Vet Entomol 1994; 8(2):160-164.
- International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). Malaria and Agriculture. Washington DC: IFPRI; 2006. [homepage on the Internet] [cited 2015 July 13]. Available from: http://www.ifpri.org/blog/malaria-and-agriculture
 - Jamaiah I, Rohela M, Nissapatorn V, Khoo BL, Radhiyah M, Aisyah A. Malaria: 10 year (19942003) retrospective study at University Malaysia Medical Center (UMMC), Kuala Lampur, Malaysia. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 2005; 36(Suppl 4):S60-S63.
- KakkilayaB.S,.Malariavectoria capacity of population of Anopheles gambiae: an exercise in epidemiological entomology 2014
- Karunaratne SH. Insecticide cross-resistance spectra and underlying resistance mechanisms of Sri Lankan anopheline vectors of malaria. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 1999; 30(3):460-469.



- Keiser J, Utzinger J, De Castro MC, Smith TA, Tanner SM, Singer BH. Urbanization in subSaharan Africa and Implications for Malaria Control. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2004; 71(Suppl 2):S118-S122.
- Killeen GF, Fillinger U, Knols BG. Advantages of larval control for African malaria vectors: Low mobility and behavioural responsiveness of immature mosquito stages allow high effective coverage. Malar J 2002; 1: 8.
- Kleinschmidt I, Sharp B. Patterns in age-specific malaria incidence in a population exposed to low levels of malaria transmission intensity. Trop Med Int Health 2001; 6(9):986-991.
- Knols BG, Bossin HC, Mukabana WR, Robinson AS. Transgenic mosquitoes and the fight against malaria: Managing Technology Push in a Turbulent GMO World. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 77:232-242.
- Koné, A.B., Tiembré, I., Cissé, G., Diallo, A., Tanner, M. and N'Goran, K.E.The impact of urbanization on malaria infection rate and parasite density in children in the municipality of Yopougon, Abidjan (Côte d'Ivoire).*Medecineetsantetropicales*, 2015;.69-74.
- Kovats RS, Campbell-Lendrum DH, McMichael AJ, Woodward A, Cox JH. Early Effects of Climate Change: Do They Include Changes in Vector-Borne Disease? Phil Trans R Soc Lond B 2001; 356:1057-1068.
- Kublin JG, Patnaik P, Jere CS, Miller WC, Hoffman IF, Chimbiya N, Pendame R, et al. Effect of Plasmodium falciparum malaria on concentration of HIV-1-RNA in the blood of adults in rural Malawi: a prospective cohort study. Lancet 2005; 365: 233-240
- Laird M. Vector-Borne Diseases Introduced into New Areas due to Human Movements: A Historical Perspective. In: Service MW, editor. Demography and vector-borne diseases. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press; 1989. p. 1-34.
- Landa V, Soldan T. Methods to Assess Toxicity to Aquatic Systems in functional Ecosystems. In: Scientific Committee on Problems of the Environment (SCOPE) 49- Methods to Assess Adverse Effects of Pesticides on Non-target. [n.p.] 1998.
- Lengeler C. Insecticide-treated bed nets and curtains for preventing malaria. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004; 2



- Lin H, Lu H, Tian L, Zhou S, Wu H, Bi Y, et al. Spatial and temporal distribution of malaria in China. Malar J 2009; 8: 130.
- Lindsay SW, Snow RW. The trouble with eaves: House entry by vectors of malaria. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1988; 82(4):645-646.
- Lines J, Harpham T, Leake C, Schofield C. Trends, priorities and policy directions in the control of vectorborne diseases in urban environments. Health Policy Plan 1994; 9:113-129.
- Mabaso ML, Sharp B, Lengeler C. Historical review of malaria control in southern African with emphasis on the use of indoor house spraying. Trop. Med. Int. Health 2004; 9:846-56.
- Maharaj R, Mthembu DJ, Sharp BL. Impact of DDT re-introduction on malaria transmission in KwaZulu-Natal. S Afr Med J 2005; 95:871-874.

Maienfisch, P. Malaria Vector Control. *CHIMIA International Journal for Chemistry*, 2016:70.681681. Malaria Control in South Africa. Health & Hyg 1995: 13-14.

Marsh K. The Challenge of Malaria. Odyssey 1998; 4(1):59-70.

- Martens P, Hall L. Malaria on the move: human population movement and malaria transmission. Emerg Infect Dis 2000; 6:103-109.
- Martens WJM, Niessen LW, Rotman J, Jetten TH, McMichael AJ. Potential Impact of Global Climate Change on Malaria Risk. Environ Health Perspect 1995; 103:458-464. 169. Nowell LH, Capel PD, Dileanis PD. Pesticides in stream sediment and aquatic biota: Distribution, trends and governing factors. Florida: CRC Press;1999. p.1040.
- McMichael J. Climate change and human health: risks and responses. World Health Organ, 2003. 301-322.
- Mehta U, Durrheim DN, Blumberg LH, Donohue S, Hansford F, Mabuza A, et al. Malaria deaths as sentinel events to monitor healthcare delivery and antimalarial drug safety. Trop Med Int Health 2007; 12:617-628.

Mellanby K. The DDT Story. London: British Crop Protection Council; 1992.



- Monasch R, Reinisch A, Steketee RW, Korenromp EL, Alnwick D, Bergervin Y. Child coverage with mosquito nets and malaria treatment from population-based surveys in African countries: a baseline for monitoring progress in roll back malaria. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2004; 71(Suppl 2):S232S238.
- Moonasar D, Johnson CL, Maloba B, Kruger P, le Grange K, Mthembu J, van den Ende J. Malaria. S Afr Health Rev 2004: 243-256.
- Mouchet J, Manguin S, Sircoulon J, Laventure S, Faye O, Onapa AW, et al. Evolution of malaria in Africa for the past 40 years: impact of climatic and human factors. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 1998; 14:121-30.
- Mouchet J. Mini review: agriculture and vector resistance. Insect Sci App 1988; 9:297-302.
- Muentener PS, Steffen R. Imported malaria (1985-95): trends and perspectives. Bull World Health Organ 1999; 77(7):560-565.
- Mutabingwa T, Nzila A, Mberu E, Nduati E, Winstanley P, et al. Chlorproguanil-dapsone for treatment of drug-resistant falciparum malaria in Tanzania. Lancet 2001; 358:1218-1223.
 - Mwangeni E, Masanja H, Momburi D, Mkilindi Y, Mbuya C, Kasale H. Health seeking behaviour in severe malaria in rural Tanzania. Proceeding of the 3rd Multilateral Initiative on Malaria Pan African Malaria Conference, Arusha, Tanzania; 2002.
 - Najera JA. Concept of Global Malaria Eradication Challenged. Special Report Health & Hyg 1995: 15-18.

Najera-Morrondo JA. Malaria control: history shows it's possible. World Health 1991:4-5.

Nauen R. Perspective Insecticide resistance in disease vectors of public health importance. Pest Manag Sci 2007; 63:628-633.

Nchinda TC. Malaria: A Re-emerging Disease in Africa. Emerg Infect Dis1998; 4:398-403.

Nevill CG, Some ES, Mung'ala VO, Mutemi W, New L, Marsh K, et al. Insecticide treated bed nets reduce mortality and severe morbidity from malaria among children on the Kenyan coast. Trop Med Int Health 1996; 1:139-146.



Ngxongo SM. The epidemiology of malaria in KwaZulu, 1980-1991 [MSc thesis]. Durban: University of Natal; 1993.

- Nosten F, Luxemburger C, Kyle DE, Ballou WR, Witten J, Wah E, et al. Randomised double blind placebo-controlled trial of SPf66 malaria vaccine in children in north-western Thailand. Lancet 1996; 348: 701–07.
- Oaks SC, Violaine SM, Greg WP, Carpenter CCJ. Malaria: Obstacles and Opportunities. A Report of the Committee for the Study on Malaria Prevention and Control: Status Review and Alternative Strategies. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 1991.
- Oyibo WA, Ogomo CO. Effects of malaria and human immunodeficiency virus co-infection during pregnancy. Int J Health Sci 2003; 2(3):237-243.

Pasvol G. The treatment of falciparum malaria in African children. Afr Health 1998; 20(4):19-20.

Patarroyo ME, Amnador R, Clavijo P, Moreno A, Guzman F, Romero P, et al. A synthetic vaccine protects humans against challenge with asexual blood stages of Plasmodium falciparum malaria. Nature 1988; 332:158-162.

Phillips RS. Status of Malaria and Potential for Control. Clin Microb Rev 2001; 14: 208226

- Phillips-Howard PA, Nahlen BL, Kolczak MS, Hightower AW, ter Kuile FO, Alaii JA, et al. Efficacy of permethrin-treated bed nets in the prevention of mortality in young children in an area of high perennial malaria transmission in western Kenya. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2003; 68(Suppl 4):S23S29
- Prothero RM. Population movements and problems of malaria eradication in Africa. Bull World Organ 1961; 24:405-425.
- Reiter P. Climate Change and Mosquito-Borne Diseases. Environ Health Perspect 2001; 109(Suppl 1):S141-S161.
- Rhee M, Sissoko M, Perry S, McFarland W, Parsonnet J, Doumbo O, et al. Use of insecticide treated nets (ITNs) following a malaria education intervention in Piron, Mali: a control trial with systematic allocation of households. Malar J 2005; 4(35):1-9.



- Robert V, Macintrye K, Keating J, Trape JF, Duchemin JB, Warren M, et al. Malaria transmission in urban sub-Saharan Africa. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2003; 68:169-176.
- Roberts DR, Manguin S, Mouchet J. DDT house spraying and re-emerging malaria. Lancet 2000; 356:330-332.
- Rogan WJ, Chen A. Health risks and benefits of bis(4-chlorophenyl)-1,1,1-trichloroethane (DDT). Lancet 2005; 366:763-773.
- Rogers WO, Hoffman SL. Malaria. In: Wahlgern M, Perlmann P, editors. Malaria: Molecular and Clinical Aspects. Harwood Academic Publishers; 1999. p. 439.
 - Roll Back Malaria Partnership. The Africa Malaria Report 2003. [Online] [cited 2010 May 15]. Available from: http://www.rollbackmalaria.org/amd2003/amr2003/amr_toc.htm

Roll Back Malaria Partnership: Global Malaria Action Plan (2005-2015). Geneva: RBM/WHO; 2008. [Online] [cited 2010 May 25]. Available from: http://www.rollbackmalaria.org/gmap

- Rowe AK, Rowe S, Snow RW, Korenromp EL, Armstrong Schellenberg JRM, Stein C, et al. The burden of malaria mortality among African children in the year 2000. Int J Epidemiol 2006; 35:691704.
- Russel PK, Howson CP, editors. Vaccines Against Malaria: Hope in Gathering Storm. Washington DC: National Academy Press; 1996. p. 30.
- Russell TL, Govella NJ, Azizi S, Drakeley CJ, Kachur SP, Killeen GF. Increased proportions of outdoor feeding among residual malaria vector populations following increased use of insecticide treated nets in rural Tanzania. Malar J 2011; 10: 80.

Sachs J, Malaney P. The economic and social burden of malaria. Nature 2002; 415:680-685.

Sachs JD. A New Global Effort to Control Malaria. Science 2002; 298:122-124.

Sadasivaiah S, Tozan Y, Breman JG. Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) for indoor residual spraying in Africa: How can it be used for malaria control? Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 77(Suppl 6):S249-S263



- Saul A. Zooprophylaxix and zoopotentiation: the outcome of introducing animals on vector transmission is highly dependent on the mosquito mortality while searching. Malar J 2003; 2: 32.
- Schofield CJ, White GB. House design and domestic vectors of disease. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1984; 78(3):285-292.
- Service MW. Problems of vector-borne diseases and irrigation projects. Insect Sci App1984; 5:227-231.
- Sharp B, Craig M, Curtis B, Mnzava A, Maharaj R, Kleinschmidt I. Review of Malaria in South Africa. Health Syst Trust 2001; 351-364.
- Sharp B, Le Sueur D. Malaria in South Africa: The present and selected implications for the future. S Afr Med J 1996; 86:83-89.
- Sharp BL, Kleinschmidt I, Streat E, Maharaj R, Barnes K, Duirrheim DN, et al. Seven years of regional malaria control collaboration Mozambique, South Africa, and Swaziland. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 76(1):42-47.
- Shidrawi GR. A WHO global programme for monitoring vector resistance to pesticides. Bull World Health Organ 1990; 68:403-408
- Slutsker L, Marston BJ. HIV and malaria: interactions and implications. CurrOpin Infect Dis 2007; 20(1):3-10.
- Snedeker SM. Pesticides and breast cancer risk: a review of DDT, DDE and dieldrin. Environ Health Perspect 2001; 109:35-47.
- Snow R, Craig M, Deichmann U, Marsh K. Estimating mortality, morbidity, and disability due to malaria among Africa's non-pregnant population. Bull World Health Organ 2015; 77:624-640.
- Snow R, Craig M, Deichmann U, Marsh K. Estimating mortality, morbidity, and disability due to malaria among Africa's non-pregnant population. Bull World Health Organ 1999; 77:624-640
- Snow R, Craig M, Deichmann U, Marsh K. Estimating mortality, morbidity, and disability due to malaria among Africa's non-pregnant population. Bull World Health Organ 1999; 77:624-640.



- Snow RW, Guerra C, Noor A, Myint H, Hay S. The global distribution of clinical episodes of Plasmodium falciparum malaria. Nature 2005; 434:214-217.
- Snow RW, Guerra C, Noor A, Myint H, Hay S. The global distribution of clinical episodes of Plasmodium falciparum malaria. Nature 2005; 434:214-217.
- Snow RW, Omumbo JA. Malaria. In: Jamison DT, Feachem RG, Makgoba MW, Bos ER, Baingana FK et al, editors. Disease and Mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa. 2nd ed. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2006. p.195.

South African Government. Cross-boundary municipalities laws repeal and related matters act. South African Government Gazette (No. 28363). Pretoria, South Africa; 2005.

Statistics South Africa (2016) National Census. Pretoria, South Africa, 2016

- Steketee RW, Nahlen BL, Parise ME, Menendez C. The burden of malaria in pregnancy in malariaendemic areas. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001; 64(Suppl 1- 2):S28-S35.
- Steketee RW, Nahlen BL, Parise ME, Menendez C. The burden of malaria in pregnancy in malariaendemic areas. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001; 64(Suppl 1- 2):S28-S35.
- Steketee RW, Wirima JJ, Bloland PB, Chilima B, Mermin JH, Chitsulo L, et al. Impairment of a pregnant woman's acquired ability to limit Plasmodium falciparum by infection with human immunodeficiency virus type-1. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1996; 55(Suppl 1):S42-S49.
- Thomson MC, Doblas-Reyes FJ, Mason SJ, Hagedorn R, Connor SJ, Phindela T, et al. Malaria early warnings based on seasonal climate forecasts from multimodel ensembles. Nature 2006; 439:576–579.
- Trape JF, Pison G, Spiegel A, Enel C, Rogier C. Combating malaria in Africa. Trends Parasitol 2002; 18(5):224-230.

Trigg PI, Kondrachine AV. The current global malaria situation. In: Sherman JW, editor. Malaria: Parasite biology, pathogenesis and protection. Washington, DC: ASM Press; 1998. p. 11-24.

Trigg PI, Kondrachine AV. The current global malaria situation. In: Sherman JW, editor. Malaria: Parasite biology, pathogenesis and protection. Washington, DC: ASM Press; 1998. p. 11-24.



- Thullner F. Impact of pesticide resistance and network for global pesticide management based on a regional structure. World Animal Rev 1997; 89.
- Tabashnik BE. Managing resistance with multiple pesticide tactics: Theory, evidence, and recommendations. J Econ Entomol 1989; 82(5):1263-1269.
- The Wellcome Trust. Problems in tackling malaria. [homepage on the Internet] [cited 2010 June 03]. Available from: http://malaria.wellcome.ac.uk/doc_WTD023887.html
- Trichopoulos D, Adami HO, Hsieh CC, Baron N, Titus-Ernshoff L, Lipworth L, et al. Organochlorine compounds in relation to breast cancer, endometrial cancer, and endometriosis: an assessment of the biological and epidemiological evidence. Crit Rev Toxicol 1995; 25:463531.
- United States Agency for International Development (USAID). Integrated Vector Management Programs for Malaria Control: Programmatic Environmental Assessment. Report prepared for Bureau for Global Health, United States Agency for International Development. Washington DC: RTI International; 2007.
- United Nations Environmental Programme (UNEP). Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants: Global status of DDT and its alternatives for use in vector control to prevent disease. Geneva: UNEP; 2008.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). Pesticides and Public Health. US Environmental Protection Agency; 2016.
- Visagie NJ, Seiling WL. Chloroquine-resistant Plasmodium falciparum malaria in South Africa. A case study. S Afr Med J 1985; 68(8):600-601.
- Venners SA, Karrick S, Xu X, Chen C, Guang W, Huang A et al. Preconception Serum DDT and Pregnancy Loss: A Prospective Study Using a Biomarker of Pregnancy. Am J Epidemiol 2005; 162:709-716.
- Verhoeff FH, Brabin BJ, Hart CA, Chimsuku L, Kazembe P, Broadhead RL. Increased prevalence of malaria in HIV-infected pregnant women and its implications for malaria control. Trop Med Int Health 1999; 4:5-12.



- Van den Berg H. Global status of DDT and its alternatives for use in vector control to prevent disease. Cien Saude Colet 2009; 16(2):575-590.
- Van Eijk AM, Ayisi JG, ter Kuile FO, Misore AO, Otieno JA, Rosen DH, Kager PA, et al. HIV increases the risk of malaria in women of all gravidities in Kisumu, Kenya. AIDS 2003; 17:595603
- World Health Organization. WHO Expert Committee on Malaria. WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. No.17. Geneva: WHO; 1997.
- World Health Organization. The African Malaria Report 2003. Chapter 1: The burden of disease in Africa. Geneva: WHO; 2003.
- World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2008. Geneva: WHO; 2008.
- World Health Organization. Investing in health research and development. Ad Hoc. Committee of Health Research Relating to Future Intervention Options. Geneva: WHO; 1996.
- World Health Organization. Indoor residual spraying: Use of indoor spraying for scaling up global malaria control and elimination. WHO position statement. Geneva: WHO; 2006.
- World Health Organization. Resistance of vectors and reservoirs of disease to pesticides: 10th Report of the WHO Expert Committee on Vector Biology and Control, WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. No.
 737. Geneva: WHO, 1986.
- World Health Organization. Malaria Vector Control and Personal Protection. WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. 936. Geneva: WHO; 2006.

World Health Organization. Vector resistance to pesticides: 15th report of the WHO Expert Committee on Vector Biology and Control, WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 818. Geneva: WHO; 1992.

World Health Organization. Resistance of vectors of disease to pesticides. Fifth report of the WHO Expert Committee in Vector Biology and Control. WHO Tech Rep Ser No 655. Geneva: WHO; 1980.

World Health Organization/ United Nations Environmental Programme. Malaria control: power of integrated action. Health and Environment Linkages Initiative (HELI) Policy Series. Geneva:
 WHO/UNEP; 2013. [Online] [cited 2015 July 16]. Available from: http://www.who.int/heli/risks/vectors/malariacontrol/en/index.html

68



- World Health Organization. Global strategic framework for integrated vector management. Geneva: WHO; 2014
- World Health Organization. Chemical Methods for the Control of Vectors and Pests of Public Health Importance. Geneva: WHO Pesticide Evaluation Scheme; 2017.
- World Health Organization. Environmental Health Criteria 83 DDT and its Derivatives in Drinkingwater. Geneva: WHO; 2000.
- World Health Organization. Rolling Back Malaria: WHO World Health Report. Geneva: WHO; 1999: 49-64.
- World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2010. Geneva: WHO; 2010.
- World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2011. Geneva: WHO; 2011.
- World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2012. Geneva: WHO; 2012.
- World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2013. Geneva: WHO; 2013.
- World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2014. Geneva: WHO; 2014.
- World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2015. Geneva: WHO; 2015
- World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2016. Geneva: WHO; 2016
- World Health Organization. Malaria Vector Control and Personal Protection. WHO Tech Rep Ser No 11936. Geneva: WHO; 2016
- WHO Malaria Unit. Global malaria control. Bull World Health Organ 1993; 71:281-284 World Health
 - Organization. World Malaria Report 2008. Geneva: WHO; 2008.
- World Health Organization. Malaria elimination: a field manual for low and moderate endemic co23.
 World Health Organization. The Abuja declaration on Roll Back Malaria in Africa. Abuja, Nigeria.
 Geneva: WHO; 2000. [Online] [cited 2010 Dec 21]. Available from: http://www.un.org/milleniumgoals/



World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2009. Geneva: WHO; 2009.

World Health Organization. A Global Strategy for Malaria Control. Geneva: WHO; 2003.

- World Health Organization. Pesticides and their Application: For the control of vectors and pests of public health importance. 6th ed. Geneva: WHO; 2006.
- White N. Antimalarial drug resistance and combination chemotherapy. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1999; 354:739-749.

World Health Organization. Guidelines for the treatment of malaria. Geneva: WHO; 2016.

Warhurst DC, Williams JE. Laboratory diagnosis of malaria. J Clin Pathol 1996; 49:533-538.

- Wongsrichonalai C, Pickard AL, Wernsdorfer WH, Meshnick S. Epidemiology of drug-resistant malaria. Lancet Infect Dis 2002; 2:209-218.
- Gunda, R., Chimbari, M.J., Shamu, S., Sartorius, B. and Mukaratirwa, S., 2017. Malaria incidence trends and their association with climatic variables in rural Gwanda, Zimbabwe, 2005–2015. *Malaria journal*, *16*(1), p.393.
- Lowe, R., Chirombo, J. and Tompkins, A.M., 2013. Relative importance of climatic, geographic and socioeconomic determinants of malaria in Malawi. *Malaria journal*, *12*(1), p.416.
- Manh, B.H., Clements, A.C., Thieu, N.Q., Hung, N.M., Hung, L.X., Hay, S.I., Hien, T.T., Wertheim, H.F., Snow, R.W. and Horby, P., 2011. Social and environmental determinants of malaria in space and time in Viet Nam. *International journal for parasitology*, *41*(1), pp.109-116.
- Ayele, D.G., Zewotir, T.T. and Mwambi, H.G., 2012. Prevalence and risk factors of malaria in Ethiopia. *Malaria journal*, *11*(1), p.195.
- Qayum, A., Arya, R., Kumar, P. and Lynn, A.M., 2015. Socio-economic, epidemiological and geographic features based on GIS-integrated mapping to identify malarial hotspots. *Malaria journal*, *14*(1), p.192.
- Okiro, E.A., Alegana, V.A., Noor, A.M. and Snow, R.W., 2010. Changing malaria intervention coverage, transmission and hospitalization in Kenya. *Malaria journal*, *9*(1), p.285.



- Pradhan, A., Anasuya, A., Pradhan, M.M., AK, K., Kar, P., Sahoo, K.C., Panigrahi, P. and Dutta, A., 2016.
 Trends in Malaria in Odisha, India—an analysis of the 2003–2013 time-series data from the national vector borne disease control program. *PloS one*, *11*(2).
- Zhou, S., Li, Z., Cotter, C., Zheng, C., Zhang, Q., Li, H., Zhou, S., Zhou, X., Yu, H. and Yang, W., 2016. Trends of imported malaria in China 2010–2014: analysis of surveillance data. *Malaria journal*, 15(1), p.39.
- Ngomane, L. and De Jager, C., 2012. Changes in malaria morbidity and mortality in Mpumalanga Province, South Africa (2001-2009): a retrospective study. *Malaria journal*, *11*(1), p.19.
- Brooke, B., Koekemoer, I., Kruger, P., Urbach, J., Misiani, E. and Coetzee, M., 2013. Malaria vector control in South Africa. *South African medical journal*, *103*(10), pp.784-788.
- Mbacham, W.F., Ayong, L., Guewo-Fokeng, M. and Makoge, V., 2019. Current situation of malaria in Africa. In *Malaria Control and Elimination* (pp. 29-44). Humana, New York, NY.
- Bhatt, S., Weiss, D.J., Cameron, E., Bisanzio, D., Mappin, B., Dalrymple, U., Battle, K.E., Moyes, C.L., Henry, A., Eckhoff, P.A. and Wenger, E.A., 2015. The effect of malaria control on Plasmodium falciparum in Africa between 2000 and 2015. Nature, 526(7572), pp.207-211.
- Degarege, A., Fennie, K., Degarege, D., Chennupati, S. and Madhivanan, P., 2019. Improving socioeconomic status may reduce the burden of malaria in sub Saharan Africa: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS one*, *14*(1).
- Maharaj, R., Seocharan, I., Qwabe, B., Mkhabela, M., Kissoon, S. and Lakan, V., 2019. Decadal epidemiology of malaria in KwaZulu-Natal, a province in South Africa targeting elimination. *Malaria journal*, *18*(1), p.368.
- Walker K. A Review of Control Methods for African Malaria Vectors. Report prepared for the Office of Health, Infectious Diseases and Nutrition, Bureau for Global Health, U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID). Washington DC: USAID; 2002.
- Yeshiwondim A, Gopal S, Hailemariam AT, Dengela DO, Patel HP. Spatial analysis of malaria incidence at the village level in areas with unstable transmission in Ethiopia. Int J Health Geographics 2009; 8(5).



Zakaria Z, Yook Heng L, Abdullah P, Osman R, Din L. The Environmental Contamination by Organochlorine Insecticides of Some Agricultural Areas in Malaysia. Malaysian J Chem 2003; 5(1):078-085

Appendix 1: Data collecting tool SECTION 1: MORBIDITY DATA PROFILE

Study no	Date of data collect on	Year of notification on	Ag e	Gender	Resident	Date of diagno sis	Result s of diagno sis	Instituti on of diagno sis	Instituti on of referral


59

SECTION 2: MORTALITY DATA PROFILE

Study no	Date of data collection on	Year of notification on	Ag e	Gender	Resident	Date of diagno sis	Result s of diagno sis	Instituti on of diagno sis	Institu [:] on	ti of referral



60

SECTION 3: VECTOR CONTROL DATA PROFILE

3.1 INDOOR RESIDUAL SPRAYING

3.1.1 Scheduled spraying

Study no	Date of data collection	Year/ season	Date of spraying	Number of households per block	Number of households sprayed	Number of households not sprayed



3.1.2 Re-spraying

Study no	Date of data collection	Year/ season	Date of respraying	Number of households per block	Number of household re-sprayed	Number of households not re- sprayed

61

3.1.3 Insecticides treated mosquito nets and other methods (if other, specify

)		
Study no	Date of data	Year/ season	Date of issuing /	Number of households per block	Number of household	Number of households not
	collection				issued/	issued /





ETHICS APPROVAL CERTIFICATE

RESEARCH AND INNOVATION OFFICE OF THE DIRECTOR

NAME OF RESEARCHER/INVESTIGATOR: Ms SR Letsoglo

STUDENT NO: 14003884

PROJECT TITLE: <u>Malaria incidence and vector control coverage</u> effects in Maruleng Municipality from 2013 to 2019.

PROJECT NO: SHS/20/PH/25/1110

SUPERVISORS/ CO-RESEARCHERS/ CO-INVESTIGATORS					
NAME	INSTITUTION & DEPARTMENT	ROLE			
Prof TG Tshilangano	University of Venda	Supervisor			
Dr KG Netshisaulu	University of Venda	Co - Supervisor			

Dr KG Netshisoulu	University of Vendo	Co - Supervisor
Ms SR Letsodlo	University of Vendo	Investigator – Student
	Turn Mosters Research	

Risk: Minimal risk to humans, animals or environment (Calegory 2) Approval Period: October 2021 – October 2023

The Human and Clinical Trails Research Ethics Committee (HCTREC) hereby approves your project as indicated above.



Name of the HCTREC Chairperson of the Committee: Dr NS Mashau Difficience Signature: UNIVERSITY OF VENDA OFFICE OF THE DIRECTOR RESEARCH AND INNOVATION 2021 - 10 - 1 2 Private Bag X5050 Thompsendow 0950

77





Department of Health

Ref	:	LP_2021-10-006
Enquires	1	Ms PF Mahlokwane
Tel	10	015-293 6028
Email	:	Phoebe.Mahlokwane@dhsd.limpopo.gov.za

Seboke Rebecca Letsoalo

PERMISSION TO CONDUCT RESEARCH IN DEPARTMENTAL FACILITIES

Your Study Topic as indicated below;

Malaria incidence and vector control coverage effects in Maruleng municipality from 2013 to 2019

- 1. Permission to conduct research study as per your research proposal is hereby Granted.
- 2. Kindly note the following:
 - Present this letter of permission to the institution supervisor/s a week before the study is conducted.
 - b. In the course of your study, there should be no action that disrupts the routine services, or incur any cost on the Department.
 - c. After completion of study, it is mandatory that the findings should be submitted to the Department to serve as a resource.
 - d. The researcher should be prepared to assist in the interpretation and implementation of the study recommendation where possible.
 - e. The approval is only valid for a 1-year period.
 - f. If the proposal has been amended, a new approval should be sought from the Department of Health
 - g. Kindly note that, the Department can withdraw the approval at any time.

Your cooperation will be highly appreciated

- - -Contine

11/11/2021

pp Head of Department

Date

Private Bag X9302 Polokwane Fidel Castro Ruz House, 18 College Street. Polokwane 0700. Tel: 015 293 6000/12. Fax: 015 293 6211. Website: http/www.Jimpopo.gov.za

The heartland of Southern Africa – Development is about people!

78